

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

# **Knowledge Transfer Strategies and Retaining Business Critical** Information

Silvia Dimma Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### Silvia Dimma

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Teresa Jepma, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Christopher Beehner, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Judith Blando, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

# Abstract

# Knowledge Transfer Strategies and Retaining Business Critical Information

by

# Silvia Dimma

Bachelor of Business Administration, Laurentian University, 1996,

Bachelor of Education, Brock University, 2001

Master of Business Administration, Aspen University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

#### Abstract

American business leaders are challenged to replace 70 million knowledgeable and experienced workers. Some leaders of organizations have no formalized knowledge transfer strategies in place to reduce lost productivity and negative financial effects of retiring and resigning employees. Seventy-five million baby boomers are leaving organizations, taking knowledge and skills with them, and leaving organizations with the challenge of training new employees. Grounded by Nonaka and Takeuchi's socialization, externalization, combination, and internalization model for knowledge creation, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore knowledge transfer strategies used by credit union leaders to retain critical business information. Participants included 14 managers and executives from 1 credit union in Michigan, United States. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and analysis of company documents. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data that resulted in 3 themes: documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and presentations and meetings. Participation in business meetings and job shadowing provides opportunities to learn critical information on organizational strategies and the ability to ask questions for clarity, which is significant for successful knowledge transfer. Implications for social change include the potential to increased credit union employees' knowledge, expanding opportunities for employees to learn new skills and knowledge, leading to promotions, or additional employment opportunities.

# Knowledge Transfer Strategies for Retaining Business Critical Information

by

# Silvia Dimma

Bachelor of Business Administration, Laurentian University, 1996,

Bachelor of Education, Brock University, 2001

Master of Business Administration, Aspen University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

# Dedication

This dissertation is devoted to the following members of my family who have in one way or the other shaped the direction of my life and saw to my achieving my ambitions: my darling husband, Darren Dimma, my loving parents, Albertina Rodrigues and Alfredo Rodrigues, and my loving mother and father-in-law, Lesley Dimma and Roger Dimma.

# Acknowledgments

I thank Walden University for allowing me the opportunity to realize my educational goals. I extend my gratitude to my doctoral study chair, Dr. Teresa Jepma for her direction throughout this study. She gave me all the positive support, encouragement, and guidance I needed to complete this study. I thank my second committee member, Dr. Chris Beehner for his detailed, timely reviews that ensured I maintained the academic standards and completed my study. I also acknowledge the University Research Reviewers for their comprehensive review of my research study to ensure I maintained academic standards.

# Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations.	7
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
SECI Model	11
Organizational Culture	12
Organizational Learning	17
Organizational Leadership	19

Succession Planning	27
Knowledge Management	31
Knowledge Loss	36
Knowledge Transfer	37
Transition	49
Section 2: The Project	50
Purpose Statement	50
Role of the Researcher	50
Participants	52
Research Method and Design	53
Research Method	53
Research Design	54
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	55
Data Collection Instruments	57
Data Collection Technique	57
Data Analysis	59
Reliability and Validity	61
Reliability	61
Validity	62
Transition and Summary	63
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Chang	зе 64

Introduction	64
Presentation of the Findings	65
Theme 1: Documentation	66
Theme 2: Cross-Training and Job Shadowing	68
Theme 3: Presentations and Meetings	71
Applications to Professional Practice	72
Implications for Social Change	73
Recommendations for Action	75
Recommendations for Further Research	76
Reflections	77
Conclusion	78
References	80
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	117
Appendix B: Email Invitation to Potential Participants	118
Appendix C: Letter of Permission	119
Appendix D: Interview Questions	120

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employees within organizations develop expertise, skills and knowledge that can be transferred to other employees (Wang, Noe, & Wang, 2014). As new employees join organizations, they benefit from knowledge transfer as contributors to performance, competitiveness, and profitability (Omotayo, 2015). Business leaders and managers within organizations do not completely understand knowledge transfer between employees that it is essential for organizational success (Gunjal, 2019). Knowledge transfer has a positive influence on performance, turnover, innovation, and competitiveness (Vij & Farooq, 2014).

#### **Background of the Problem**

Knowledge transfer is essential for organization innovation and competitiveness (Malarz & Paradowski, 2018). When employees transfer knowledge, they can expand current strategies rather than focusing on just handing off of information. This provides a competitive edge because when employees learn from each other they are engaged and more committed to the organization. Knowledge transfer is critical resource for organizations in the United States to be innovative and retain business critical knowledge (Abbas, Avdic, Xiaobao, Zhao, & Chong, 2018). Retaining the organizational history is important to advancing the organization otherwise understanding how and why decisions were made would be lost, which is used to make decisions and setting the direction of the organization. Organizations in the United States are losing business critical knowledge as employees leave and do not share, document, or pass their knowledge on to other employees (Sumbal, Tsui, Cheong, & See-to, 2018). In organizations, the transfer of

knowledge from subject matter experts to other employees is needed for retaining business critical information for better decision making (Rahim, Mahmood, & Masrom, 2017). Knowledge is a valuable resource for organizations to build a competitive advantage, innovation, and adjust in changing business environment (Muñoz-Pascual, Galende, & Curado, 2020). Knowledge transfer is a fundamental means by which employees can contribute to creating a completive advantage for the organization (Al-Arimi, Masrom, & Mahmood, 2017). Business leaders are seeking to manage and distribute knowledge flow and valuable company resources within the organization (Gunjal, 2019).

According to Vahlne and Johanson (2017) knowledge is a valuable organizational resource that provides a competitive advantage in a competitive economy. Organizations have strategically placed knowledge as an important resource to gain and sustain a competitive advantage (Abbas et al., 2018). Leaders create systems for knowledge management to share information across divisions (Janus, 2016). Employees need to be willing to share their knowledge and expertise within organizations for knowledge management and innovation to occur (Loebbecke, van Fenema, & Powell, 2016).

#### **Problem Statement**

American business leaders are challenged to replace 70 million knowledgeable and experienced workers (Green, Roberts, & Rudebock, 2017). Seventy-five million baby boomers are leaving organizations, taking knowledge and skills with them, leaving organizations with challenges involving training new employees (Farrell, 2018). Ten thousand U.S. baby boomers are leaving the workforce daily, and more than 70 million

will leave the workforce by 2029 (Anderson & Guo, 2018). The general business problem is that the loss of business knowledge due to baby boomers retiring affects productivity and profits. The specific business problem is that some business leaders lack knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore knowledge transfer strategies used by credit union leaders to retain critical business information. Participants included managers and executives of a credit union in Michigan, United States. Findings may contribute to social change for credit union employees sharing knowledge enhancing the skills of other credit union employees that can lead to expansion of employment opportunities. Skilled workers who are more engaged and happier at both work and home will contribute positively to social change by socializing in their communities and sharing skills they learned with others. More skilled employees due to knowledge transfer makes credit union individuals more marketable so that they can pursue job advancements which may improve their living situations.

### **Nature of the Study**

Three methods used for research include qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. A qualitative approach was appropriate for this research because participants will be sharing their viewpoints about knowledge transfer as well as their values, opinions, and behaviors. Qualitative methods are used for exploring individual experiences through direct interactions (Yin, 2017). Qualitative research is used to understand social or human problems from perspectives of local populations (Barnham,

2015). Quantitative research involves numerical data, measurements, and hypothesis testing (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The intent of my study did not include numerical data or testing hypotheses, and therefore quantitative methods were not the best choice. Mixed research incorporates both quantitative and qualitative research methods and includes numerical data, measurements, and hypothesis testing (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The information collected did not include numerical data, and therefore mixed methods was not an appropriate choice.

The four qualitative research designs are case study, ethnography, grounded theory, and phenomenology. A case study involves analyzing a topic to get an understanding of the topic based on the perspectives of participants (Harrison, Birks, Franklin, & Mills, 2017). A case study approach was the most appropriate to learn about current strategies from leader perspectives. Phenomenology is philosophically based and involves lived experiences to gain understanding involving experiences of participants (Jackson, Vaughan, & Brown, 2018). Using a phenomenological approach was not the best choice because I did not study the lived experiences of participants. Ethnography is a qualitative design that describes cultural behaviors within particular indigenous settings (Farrell, Walshe, & Molassiotis, 2017). The ethnography design was not appropriate for the study as the focus because I did not on cultural behaviors but rather knowledge transfer strategies used by credit union leaders. Grounded theory is a qualitative method used to evaluate data from participants' experiences and supporting data in order to generate new theories (Belgrave & Seide, 2018). Grounded theory was not appropriate because I did not focus on developing a new theory based on the study findings.

# **Research Question**

What strategies do credit union leaders use to retain critical business information as employees are resigning?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What knowledge transfer strategies do you employ to retain business critical information?
- 2. How is knowledge transferred between employees?
- 3. What role do leaders have in knowledge transfer strategies?
- 4. What barriers have you encountered when implementing knowledge transfer strategies?
- 5. How do employees respond to knowledge transfer strategies?
- 6. How do you evaluate or measure knowledge transfer strategies for success?
- 7. What additional information would you be able to share on this topic?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The fundamentals of knowledge transfer help organizational leaders understand that organizational knowledge transferred from existing and retiring employees to new employees will create competitive advantages for organizations. Nonaka and Takeuchi's theory indicates that knowledge not a fixed object, but a fluid exchange of ideas that creates and transfers knowledge. The theory indicates that knowledge creation is a process of four phases of categories: socialization, externalization, combination, and internalization (SECI) (Kaur, 2015). According to Nonaka and Takuechi (1995), the SECI model brings the knowledge of individual employees to other employees within the

organization and puts that knowledge to effective use in achieving organizational vision, strategic objectives, and performance expectations. Nonaka and Takeuchi (1995) SECI model assumes that knowledge will be readily shared by the owner and that interplay between them creates a process of knowledge creation and transfer. The SECI builds relationships that create an environment for rationality, intuition, and explicit and tacit knowledge exchange to enhance creativity (Kaur, 2015). Nonaka and Takeuchi's 1995 SECI model aligned this study's focus on transferring business critical knowledge to understand if using knowledge transfer strategies will help retain business critical knowledge. The SECI model is used for knowledge creation activities needed for knowledge transfer to take place within the credit union.

## **Operational Definitions**

Business critical information: Business critical information that is needed to ensure businesses can operate successfully (Tyrrell, 2016). Business critical information is fundamental for leaders to make decisions founded on effective and accurate information.

Explicit knowledge: Knowledge codified and transmitted through methods such as writing, diagramming, and speaking. This involves written knowledge collected in a particular form that is easily shared and openly available to all (Obeidat, Al-Dmour, & Tarhini, 2015). Explicit knowledge is knowledge that can be formally expressed using a system of words that is describable, tangible, rules-based, and object-based (Evans, Dalkir, & Bidian, 2015).

*Knowledge management*: Knowledge management is the practice within organizations to identify, create, evaluate, store, maintain, and share organizational knowledge (Gao & Bernard, 2018).

Knowledge transfer: Employees learn new information from experienced coworkers, suggesting that employees will learn from the other employees' experiences (Ugolini, Massetti, Sanesi, & Pearlmutter, 2015). Knowledge transfer is the action of moving knowledge from one individual to another. Formal or informal networks are necessary for social interactions needed to transfer tacit knowledge through activities such as documented practices, learning, and reports (Loebbecke et al., 2016).

Organizational culture: Organizational values, beliefs, theories, effectiveness, and efficiency provide the framework for organizational culture (Tong, Tak, & Wong, 2015). Organizational culture is built from shared values and beliefs that employees use to understand the organizational functions and expected behaviors (Tong et al., 2015).

Succession planning: Succession planning involves strategic initiatives to ensure leadership continuity of important positions with trained individuals for the future of organizations and encourages individual growth (Flynn & Rutherford, 2018).

### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

Assumptions include suppositions believed to be true but not verified. Limitations are restrictions outside of a researcher's control. Delimitations are boundaries or parameters of a study.

# **Assumptions**

Assumptions is information assumed that may inadvertently influence research but are relevant and needed for the study to be validated (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first assumption was that participants were honest and truthful in their responses. Another assumption was each participant's experience was relevant to the study. Another assumption was that participants' experiences were reflective of other credit union leaders in the industry. Last, I assumed that data collected from participants accurately represent experiences of other leaders in the credit union industry.

#### Limitations

Limitations in research are potential weaknesses (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). A limitation of the study was the participation was limited to one federal credit union of the 5,335 federally insured credit unions in the United States. One limitation was that participants were limited to leaders working in the credit union industry, and employees of the credit union industry were not included. Another limitation was that participating credit unions were located within the United States; the results may not be representative of global credit unions.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are exclusions set by the researcher in refining the scope of the study (Theofanidis, & Fountouki, 2018). Delimitations are the characteristics that limit the scope and define the boundaries of the research study (Theofanidis, & Fountouki, 2018). The study targeted one credit union in Michigan, United States. Another delimitation of this study was that only one credit union was included; other financial

institutions were not included. A final delimitation was that only leaders and managers were part of the participation group; employees did not participate.

## **Significance of the Study**

This study is of significance to credit union leaders to understand knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information. Knowledge transfer of critical business information is important to have for the process of innovation and the foundation on which innovation is based. Knowledge is a valuable resource within the organization that enhances competitive advantage (Vahlne & Johanson, 2017). Organizations have an advantage when the employees are skilled and retain business information.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

This study contributes to the practice of business by identifying knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information as employees leave. This study may contribute to credit union leaders understanding that different knowledge transfer strategies contribute to business-critical information. This study may provide credit union leaders with strategies for creating knowledge transfer environments and strategies for their organization. Knowledge transfer may assist remaining credit union employees to build skills and maintain organizational information.

# **Implications for Social Change**

This study contributes to social change by increasing employees' knowledge which could contribute to happier and more engaged employees in life and communities they live in. Employees engaged in knowledge transfer strategies may increase job

satisfaction, which may increase their value within organizations and communities they live in. Through knowledge transfer, credit union employees increase productivity and enhance social value within the credit union (Argote & Fahrenkopf, 2016). This study contributes to social change because employees with increased knowledge may have enhanced career growth opportunities and be happier and more engaged in life and society by giving back to local charities. Credit union leaders may use the knowledge transfer strategies identified to enhance the job satisfaction and lives of the employees at their credit union.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The objective of this qualitative case study was to explore knowledge transfer used by credit union leaders to retain critical business information. The transfer of knowledge increases productivity, efficiency, innovation, motivation of employees, and competitive advantage of organizations (Hatak & Roessl, 2015). Organizational factors such as cultural values, leadership, and human resources practices influence knowledge exploration through practices and behaviors (Gonzalez & Melo, 2018). The review of literature includes published sources regarding retiring baby boomers, knowledge transfer, knowledge sharing, organizational culture, leadership, knowledge loss, and succession planning. The literature involves concepts regarding internalization, externalization, socialization, and Nonaka's knowledge creation theory. The literature review includes the following topics: organizational culture, organizational leadership, transformational leadership, transactional leadership, succession planning, knowledge loss, and knowledge transfer. I identified and accessed literature using Walden

University's online library, Google Scholar, related books, reports, web sites, and databases. The study had 230 resources, with 185 or 80% published after 2015, with 166 peer-reviewed articles. The research databases used were: Google Scholar, ProQuest, SAGE Premier, and Emerald Management. Pertinent keywords included: knowledge transfer, knowledge sharing, knowledge strategies, knowledge transfer culture, leadership, retaining business critical information, succession planning, organizational culture, knowledge creation, knowledge sharing theory, learning, organizational learning, knowledge management, knowledge loss, tacit knowledge, knowledge types, explicit knowledge, and knowledge transfer strategies.

#### **SECI Model**

The SECI model according to Nonaka and Takuechi (1995) is a knowledge conversion theory that converts and creates knowledge of individual employees within the organization practice to collaborate, interact, and learn. The SECI model possesses four approaches to knowledge conversions: socialization, externalization, combination, and internationalization. The interplay between them creates a process of knowledge creation. The SECI builds relationships that create an environment for rationality, intuition, and explicit and tacit knowledge exchange to enhance creativity (Kaur, 2015). Nonaka and Takeuchi's 1995 SECI model demonstrates the continuous process that takes place in organizations which relates to this study's focus on transferring business critical knowledge through the use of knowledge transfer strategies. Knowledge creation occurs as the interaction between tacit and explicit knowledge blends through the SECI process (Nonaka et al., 1994). This theory was the most appropriate framework for this study

since it addresses knowledge transfer with organization processes. The SECI model was an appropriate framework to focus on the conversion between explicit knowledge and tacit knowledge through the four modes of knowledge conversions in organizations.

This framework indicates an understanding of knowledge transfer and the knowledge conversion process that occurs at all levels of organizations. Knowledge transfer and creation supports organizations' capability to sustain a competitive advantage, which leads to positive performance relationships involving knowledge management and innovation. Knowledge creation within organizations with a learning culture strengthens knowledge transfer among employees.

## **Organizational Culture**

Organizational culture is developed through employees' values, beliefs, and behaviors. Organizational culture is defined as a system of values that drives people to make choices and decisions in the organization (Harris, 2017). Culture is the set of values, beliefs, and behavior patterns that separates one organization from other organizations (Harris, 2017). Behaviors and values modeled by employees create the culture of an organization. The behaviors that employees of an organization experience and describe shape how employees behave and adapt to obtain results in the organization (Cao, Huo, Li, & Zhao, 2015). How employees of an organization interact with each other and with stakeholders contribute to the organizational culture. Organizational culture evolves based on values, beliefs, and behaviors of employees.

Credit Union leaders understand that organizational culture contributes to the success of organizations. Leaders use organizational culture to differentiate their

company from other companies. Organizational culture positively relates to corporate leadership and governance by setting the behaviors employees will follow (O'Connor & Byrne, 2015). Credit Union leaders contribute to building a positive organizational culture to motivate employee performance. Credit union leaders understand the influence of organization culture on corporate performance (Unger, Rank, & Gemunden, 2014). Warren Buffet indicated how organizational culture is necessary to organizational success (Childress, 2013) and Howard Schultz, a founder of Starbucks Coffee Company explained that organizational culture is a critical factor in the success of Starbucks (Martins, Rindova, & Greenbaum, 2015). Leaders who focus on building a positive culture will increase organizational performance.

Maintaining an effective working culture in organizations promotes a positive vision of excellence (Unger et al., 2014). An healthy and positive culture has: value driven management, motivated employees, quick decision-making and problem-solving, autonomy and entrepreneurship in leadership, and productivity through people (Pathiranage, 2019). In a positive organizational culture, employees have similar views regarding the organization and they behave consistently with organizational values (Unger et al., 2014). Organizational leaders display a strong organizational culture to influence employees' work attitudes and performance because culture engages and motivates employees (Warrick, 2017). Strong organizational cultures includes work that is aligned with the organization's current and future direction (Warrick, 2017). By contrast, in a weak organizational culture, employees have problems defining the organization's values and determining the right process of conducting business

(Childress, 2013). When organizational culture is weak, the organization's existence is at risk because organization members have different values and beliefs, where they may work against management's priorities (Eaton & Kilby, 2015). A positive organizational culture includes employees who are engaged in achieving business goals.

Leaders are tasked with the responsibility of building a cultural foundation that aligns with organization goals. In a strong organizational culture, leaders foster a vision, share values, and achieve goals in the organization (Warrick, 2017). Employees observe behaviors of organization members and work trends to identify which actions support organizations' culture and promote success (Beauregard, Basile, & Thompson, 2018). Leaders communicate with employees about their behaviors that contribute to healthy culture which in turn, encourage desired behaviors. Customers and stakeholders may perceive and use organizational culture as a distinguishing factor to identify a good organization from a bad organization (Childress, 2013). Leaders use frequent and transparent communication to develop and encourage a culture of sharing and teamwork among members of organizations (Cao et al., 2015). The coordinated effort of leaders and employees may contribute to a positive working environment (Miguel, 2015). In a strong organizational culture, leaders encourage their employees to participate in decisionmaking processes (Lukic et al., 2017). When employees and leaders develop respect and dignity for each other, they can help each other and integrate their knowledge and experiences to improve organizations (Miguel, 2015). Leaders and employees together create a positive organizational culture that supports the transfer of knowledge and skill development.

A positive organizational culture is important to motivate employees by creating a work environment that is engaging. Employees in organizations use an effective organizational culture to develop teamwork and knowledge sharing culture (Körner, Wirtz, Bengel, & Göritz, 2015). Leaders across organizations face cultural challenges generated from social interaction and communication (Serrat, 2017). Practices, values, and assumptions shared by employees identifying appropriate behaviors define organization culture (Alas & Mousa, 2016). Organizational culture can influence how employees communicate and share information and social interactions and establish norms that identify right and wrong behaviors (Alas & Mousa, 2016). Organizational culture is a driving factor for why knowledge management and initiatives fall short of meeting leaders' goals. The creation of knowledge is affected by values and trust placed on the creation of knowledge from leaders and teams (Akhavan & Hosseini, 2015). Organizational culture driven by trust and communication supports and encourages knowledge sharing.

Continuous learning and employee development that is supported by leaders within the organization, supports a culture of knowledge transfer. Organizational cultures that include continuous improvement and learning result in increased knowledge transfer among employees (Chang & Lin, 2015). Employees constitute the culture of the organization that influences motivation, productivity, perspectives, and problem-solving techniques (Nikpour, 2017). When employees do not support a knowledge transfer culture, it leads to the creation of knowledge silos (Tong et al., 2015). The creation of silos separating employees, departments, and divisions prevents knowledge transfer. Silos

are created because of a lack of knowledge by employees regarding other departments or people (Johnson, Grove, & Clarke, 2018). Silos would prevent the sharing of best practices for creativity, innovation, resource use, and competitive advantages across departments within the organization (Cao & Xiang, 2012). Organizational culture has a direct effect on the employees' influence of knowledge transfer and an indirect influence on the managers' attitudes toward knowledge transfer (Tong et al., 2015).

Knowledge sharing behaviors in employees are influenced by organizational culture. Organizational culture can influence employees' attitude about knowledge sharing and perceived behaviors (Tong et al., 2015). Organizational culture and weak employee relationships are critical barriers to successful knowledge transfer (Solli-Saether, Karlsen, & van Oorschot, 2015). An organizational culture that supports a knowledge transfer concept includes social networking, emerging relationships, trust, and innovation (Elrehail, Emeagwali, Alsaad, & Alzghoul, 2018). Leaders impact knowledge transfer attitudes of employees by creating a culture that encourages employees to share their experiences. According to Chang and Lin (2015), to develop knowledge sharing attitudes among employees, managers must model supportive attitudes. Creating a culture of knowledge transfer will engage employees in sharing information and experiences across the organization (Elrehail et al., 2018). An innovative organizational culture is created when employees are empowered and encouraged to create and explore new ideas (Islam, Jasimuddin, & Hasan, 2015). Organizations with a culture of open communication results in increased knowledge transfer among employees (Islam et al., 2015). Knowledge transfer is most successful when the organizational culture has

continuous learning and accepted change (Chang & Lin, 2015). Organizational cultures that embrace innovation and creative ideas encourages knowledge transfer.

Organizational cultural values, believes and behaviors significantly influences knowledge sharing and job satisfaction (Islam et al., 2015). Sharing of knowledge results in the development and promotion of new ideas that prove successful and become routine and part of the organizational culture (Mueller, 2014). A positive organizational culture influences knowledge sharing and job satisfaction which leads to improved organizational financial performance (Islam et al., 2015). Improved organizational performance is supported through knowledge transfer. According to Mueller (2014), treating corporate culture as a knowledge resource and an enabler for knowledge management will improve knowledge transfer. Knowledge sharing is defined as the process of knowledge transfer where an organization maintains complex and valuable information regarding the organization (Alsam, Rehman, & Imran, 2016). Leaders influence the organizational culture and understands that knowledge transfer improves organizational performance.

#### **Organizational Learning**

Organizational learning is the process of obtaining knowledge from employees' experiences within organizations (Chadwick & Raver, 2015). This knowledge may influence employees' behaviors and improve the organization's performance. An organizational learning process supported by leaders manage the knowledge assets of an organization (Tamayo-Torres, Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, Llorens-Montes, & Martínez-López, 2016). An organization of learning supports individuals to strategize, innovate, and

survive in a competitive world (Saadat & Saadat, 2016). Organization learning includes employees participating in knowledge transfer.

Organizational learning enhances knowledge transfer cultures. Organizational actions and decisions to transfer and accept knowledge are essential to support organizational learning by engaging employees (Tamayo-Torres et al., 2016).

Organizational learning and knowledge management can improve knowledge transfer when positive organizational cultures exist (Saadat & Saadat, 2016). A learning culture motivates employees to share knowledge learned through experiences. Organizational learning provides perspectives to create and maintain organizational knowledge, which motivates employees to become productive, creative, and confident (Chadwick & Raver, 2015). Leaders need to develop a learning process to enhance knowledge transfer (Saadat & Saadat, 2016). Establishing a culture of learning will encourage and support behaviors share knowledge among employees.

The effectiveness of an organizational learning process may depend on many factors including culture and leadership values. The organizational culture influences the organizational learning process, which could affect knowledge acquisition, knowledge distribution, and knowledge application. Characteristics of organizational culture that negatively influence learning include coercion and lack of trust among employees (Chatterjee, Pereira, & Bates, 2018). Employees' willingness to share and learn new knowledge is adversely affected and stopped when managers do not support or prevent their employees to participate in sharing (Chadwick & Raver, 2015). Organizational culture that encourages learning to employees with interest in learning and knowledge

transfer potential (McGee & Diala, 2017). Organizational leaders that support a learning culture will motivate employees to participate in knowledge transfer activities.

Organizational learning creates a culture of continuous learning, which encourages knowledge transfer. Organizational learning is a performance driver in organizations (Argote & Fahrenkopf, 2016). Organizations with a focus on organizational learning are engaged in knowledge transfer (Sheng & Chien, 2016). Building and communicating a shared vision and fostering collaboration and empowering employees, leads to organizational learning (Rana, Ardichvili, & Polesello, 2016). Empowerment of employees leads to a learning culture (Jain & Moreno, 2015). Organizational learning enhances innovation through knowledge creation and use (Sheng & Chien, 2016). Organizational learning could present performance challenges involving knowledge creation and application that prevent organizations from being profitable as that new knowledge was incorrect (Starbuck, 2017). Employees empowered to engage in continuous learning, participate in knowledge transfer because they are empowered to share their skills and experiences with other employees.

#### **Organizational Leadership**

Knowledge transfer strategies also support team building and team performance. Leaders that model ethical and caring behaviors that focus on employee well-being engages employees in knowledge sharing (Tuan, 2016). Effective leaders who are committed and motivated in undertaking knowledge management initiatives in the organizations (Sheehan, Garavan, & Morley, 2020). Empowering leaders to support knowledge transfer will increase the absorption capacity of the employees, leading to

higher performing employee teams (Lee, Lee, & Park, 2014). Leaders supporting knowledge transfer improve organizational performance. According to Le and Lei (2018), leaders who initiate innovation and share and develop their skills with employees, enhance the increase the employees' willingness for knowledge transfer. Knowledge transfer at a team level has the direct effect of improving project performance by providing information and knowledgesharing (Lee et al., 2014). According to Altinay, Madanoglu, De Vita, Arasli, and Ekinci (2016), individuals in managerial positions should acknowledge the importance of learning to promote knowledge transfer, knowledge creation, and knowledge acquisition. Knowledge transfer and absorption capacity through recognition of the value of new information, contributes to improved team performance (Lee et al., 2014). Leaders who empower employees raise the level of knowledge transfer, enhancing individual, team, and organization performance.

Leaders set expectations for employees to share knowledge. Leaders should realize the value of new information and information sharing to lead to innovative actions (Lee et al., 2014). Leadership plays a primary role to encourage employees to valuable share knowledge (Koohang, Paliszkiewicz, & Goluchowski, 2017). Team leaders empower team members through information sharing in team-based activities which leads to increased team performance (Lee et al., 2014). Knowledge leadership is associated with customer knowledge management and is also an approach to enhancing organization performance (Yang, Huang, & Hsu, 2014). Leaders empower employees to learn and share experiences which benefits the individuals, teams, and the organization.

Leadership influences employees to participate in knowledge transfer. Customer information management positively effects project performance and therefore, organizational performance (Yang et al., 2014). Organizational leaders identify the gaps in employee knowledge and provides knowledge resources to employees (Berson, Da'as, & Waldman, 2015). Practical experience should be shared from other departments to create new knowledge and increase innovation (Yang, et al., 2014). Managers should be actively engaged with employees to facilitate the transferring of critical information and to create a continuous learning environment (Berson et al., 2015). Leaders build knowledge integration and innovation is improved when managers enhance the team members' innovative ability and develop a reward system to encourage a learning environment (Yang et al., 2014). Management has an important role in facilitating and creating a positive culture of knowledge sharing (Llopis & Foss, 2016). Managers is responsible for gaining knowledge and skills to help develop future leaders of the organization (Yang et al., 2014). Managers modeling knowledge transfer and engaging in supporting employees to sharing their experiences will affect organizational performance. However, management has no influence on the trust and the perceived knowledge sharing effectiveness (Llopis & Foss, 2016). Leaders in organizations shape the structure of knowledge transfer that ensures employees will engage in knowledge transfer process (Donate & de Pablo, 2015). Leaders build, maintain, and facilitate the creation of new knowledge that can be transferred to co-workers (Le & Lei, 2018). Leaders must support the development of information management channels and initiatives for knowledge exploration and encourage information management practices in the organization through

motivation and communication (Donate & de Pablo, 2015). Leadership styles and the support employees receive from leaders contribute to employees actively participating in knowledge transfer. When leaders make knowledge transfer a priority, employees feel empowered to share and learn to and from others.

Transformational leadership. Transformational leaders influence the behaviors of employees through positive attitudes and empowering them. Transformational leaders have a positive influence on organizational performance (Xiao, Zhang, & Ordóñez de Pablos, 2017). Transformational and empowering leadership styles result in increased knowledge sharing (Carmeli, Gelbard, & Reiter-Palmon, 2013). The findings indicated that transformational leaders have the greatest potential for enhancing motivation and improving moral standards for the organization (Xiao et al., 2017). Leaders' behaviors indicate direct and indirect support through knowledge sharing which helps increase employee problem-solving capacity (Carmeli et al., 2013). Transformational leadership is well suited for engaging organizational change among employees (Xiao et al., 2017). Leaders that facilitate internal and external knowledge sharing improve employees' creative performance (Carmeli et al., 2013). Transformational leaders influence followers' beliefs, assumptions, and behavior by appealing to the importance of collective or organizational outcomes (Ghasabeh, Soosay, & Reaiche, 2015). When leaders demonstrate higher levels of trust, integrity, and ability to lead an organization, followers support is increased (Breevaart, Bakker, Hetland, Demerouti, Olsen, & Espevik, 2014). Transformational leadership differs from transactional leadership that depends on self-interest as the main motivating factor for followers (Ghasabeh et al.,

2015). Building an environment to motivate followers to perform beyond expectations is a characteristic of transformational leadership (Breevaart et al., 2014). Transformational leaders provide an environment that encourages knowledge transfer to contribute to organization performance.

Transformational leaders motivate employees to follow leaders in the organization. Transformational leadership are often: influential, inspirational, motivational, provide individual consideration, and evoke intellectual stimulation (Breevaart et al., 2014). While supporting individual development and encouraging team contributions transformation leadership sets in motion the appropriate behaviors to handle the situation (Ghasabeh et al., 2015). Idealized influence denotes that followers identify with their leaders and respect and trust their leader (Breevaart et al., 2014). This type of leader conveys the importance of a shared mission and infusing a sense of purpose (Ghasabeh et al., 2015). Transformational leaders create an environment that encourages employees to perform. Inspirational motivation is creating and communicating a vision of the future and the leaders' own confidence about the future (Breevaart et al., 2014). The starting place of an innovative culture and the transferring of knowledge to obtain the best organizational performance is motivated by transformational leaders (Ghasabeh et al., 2015). Transformational leaders embrace an innovative culture and organizational performance through knowledge transfer.

Leaders are mentors and coaches to employees to provide guidance for development and growth. Individual consideration is when the leader is the mentor and recognizes that each employee has his or her own needs and abilities (Breevaart et al.,

2014). Transformational leaders have charisma, provide inspiration and promote intellectual stimulation (Dong, Bartol, Zhang, & Li, 2017). Intellectual stimulation is the challenging followers to rethink ideas and to bring a different perspective to their work (Breevaart et al., 2014). Leaders with a transformational leadership appreciate diverse thought and innovation, and motivate employees through communicating high expectations to followers (Dong et al., 2017). Transformational leaders promote intellectual stimulation by encouraging employees' intelligence, knowledge and learning, and permitting employees to be innovative in their approaches to problem solving and solutions (Dong et al., 2017). Employees are motivated by transformational leaders who support an innovative and learning environment.

Transformational leadership is more practical and applicable than transactional leadership to motivate followers. These types of leaders are able to understand their environment and create strategic goals followers find interesting. Subordinates of transformational leaders display higher levels of loyalty to the organization, a higher level of eagerness to work harder, and have higher levels of trust in their leader (Obeidat, Zyod, & Gharaibeh, 2015). Leaders demonstrate a personalized approach when they communicate strategic goals of the organization. Transformational leaders create a link between what is important to employees' and the organizational goals and values by introducing social exchange (Astrauskaite, Notelaers, Medisauskaite, & Kern, 2015). Leaders that show individual attention to employees and establish personal relationships with employees experience loyal employees in exchange.

Transactional leadership. Employees who are motivated by rewards as a form of recognition for performance work well with transactional leaders. Transactional leaders have many components that vary in effectiveness and ensure that expectations are met (Breevaart et al., 2014). As leaders, they play an important role to create, share, and explore knowledge in organizations (Sheehan et al., 2020). They specify that rewards are contingent on individual achievements that make individual task performance noticeable and setting employees apart regarding terms of their performance (Hamstra, Van Yperen, Wisse, & Sassenberg, 2014). Transactional leaders motivate employees through reward to achieve performance goals. Transactional leaders are committed and motivated to support knowledge management initiatives in the organizations (Sheehan et al., 2020). Transactional leaders use rewards or incentives as effective methods to motivate employees to complete tasks (Breevaart et al., 2014). Transactional leader focus on each individual to meet performance goals by motivating earning rewards.

Transactional leaders focus on individual accomplishments. Transactional leaders emphasize individual accomplishments versus collective accomplishments tend to reduce cooperation within teams (Hamstra et al., 2014). Transactional leaders can limit employee development in innovation, creativity, and personal and organizational growth (Masa'deh, Obeidat, & Tarhini, 2016). Transactional leaders focus on independent performance and scarcity of resources when individual employees are aware that their performance will be evaluated, they tend to socially compare their performance and aim at normative, interpersonal standards (Hamstra et al., 2014). Transactional leadership does not support team accomplishments rather they focus on individual achievements. In

contradiction to transactional leadership style is the management-by-exception is confronting employees with their mistakes and expressing disapproval (Breevaart et al., 2014). A transactional leadership does not support knowledge sharing through an environment where employees demonstrate their competence by outperforming others (Hamstra et al., 2014). An ineffective component of transactional leadership is management-by-exception; they anticipate that mistakes will happen and the enforcement of specific rules that would prevent mistakes from happening (Saleem, 2015). Transactional leadership is based on achieving individual goals that contribute to the overall organizational goals.

Transactional leadership influences organizational effectiveness through the individual accomplishments. Transactional leadership is a form of strategic leadership that is important for organizational effectiveness because of they focus on tasks that support the organization's priorities (Jabeen, Behery, & Abu Elanain, 2015).

Transactional leaders set clear objectives, monitor progress, hold individuals accountable for actions, and engage employees in organizational commitment (Delegach, Kark, Katz-Navon, & Van Dijk, 2017). Leaders using power for control, bureaucracy, and policy are transactional leaders (Jabeen et al., 2015). Fairness creates strong relationships and transactional leaders enhance a level of trust between employees and their leaders (Afshari & Gibson, 2016). Transactional leadership focus on organizational effectiveness; process improvements and performance improvement seen by employees (Sharma & Nair, 2018). Transactional leaders know what employees want, reward employee efforts, and are responsive to employee needs that align with the organizational

priorities for efforts performed (Rawung, Wuryaningrat, & Elvinita, 2015). Transactional leaders maintain the day to day functions, short-term plans, and adjust for the future (Masa'deh, Obeidat, Zyod, & Gharaibeh, 2015). Focus on achieving goals by being efficient and avoiding risk are behaviors modeled by transactional leaders (Bradshaw, Chebbi, & Oztel, 2015). Transactional leaders assume that employee knowledge belongs to the organization (Rawung et al., 2015). Transactional leaders contribute to organizational effectiveness through clear objectives that align with corporate goals.

## **Succession Planning**

Succession planning is a process that leaders employ for continued success; individual employees are prepared for critical positions with an intentional effort to enhance their skills to better alignment to future organizational needs. By the year 2030, 20% of the U.S. population will be age 65 or older (Colby & Ortman, 2014). As 70 million Americans prepare to leave the workforce, organizations will experience a large amount of knowledge loss (Green et a., 2017). To identify successors for important positions, development plans are created for identified successors (Patidar, Gupta, Azbik, & Weech-Maldonado, 2016). Succession planning is fundamental to for an organization to be competitive (Johnson, Pepper, Adkins, & Emejom, 2018). Effective organizational leaders provide a competitive advantage but when there is turnover of leaders, it influences the strategic direction of the organization (Patidar et al., 2016). Organizational leaders identify knowledge gaps by assessing employees on the job knowledge and connect knowledge resources for the transfer of knowledge to others in the organization

(Johnson, 2018). Succession planning is used by leaders to prepare individuals for future needs of the organization through knowledge transfer and skill building.

As knowledgeable employees leave the organization leaders focus on succession planning to transfer knowledge to other employees. Organizations are affected by the retiring baby boomers and the loss of knowledge when they leave (Sumbal, Tsui, See-to, & Barendrecht, 2017). Managers use succession plans to transfer knowledge to employees who will have future ownership of duties. Leaders applying strategic succession planning to identify qualified and motived employees to be developed that will prepare them to perform effectively (Kariuki & Ochiri, 2017). Some senior employees have a willingness to share and transfer knowledge to younger generations creating a positive relationship between job satisfaction and effective communication (Merchant, Kumar, & Mallik, 2017). Knowledge transfer between employees assist with development and growth of individual to succeed employees that are leaving the organization. Succession planning includes: organization vision and mission, values and guiding principles, organizational goals, personal goals and retirement plans, stakeholders, successor criteria, and intended legacy for the organization (Kariuki & Ochiri, 2017). Succession planning allows managers to be proactive to evaluate and develop employees to be prepared to fill future available positions within the organization (Kariuki & Ochiri, 2017). Succession planning is an important process for leaders to use in their organizations (Ramadani, Bexheti, Rexhepi, Ratten, & Ibraimi, 2017). Succession planning requires identifying the knowledge gaps to prepare individuals to grow within the organization. Identifying employees with the right qualifications, transitioning the

knowledge from the incumbent to the successor, organize the leadership transition, ensuring effective communication, and establishing a collaborative relationship existing between the incumbent and successor (Carpio Vázquez, & Lysenko, 2017). Strategic succession planning contributes to sustainability by identifying and retaining future leaders through leadership development (Manning, Jones, Jones, & Fernandez, 2015). Successful leadership transitions are a direct result of succession planning (Prestia et al., 2014). Losing important employees and the loss of knowledge is less likely if a succession plan was implemented (Manning et al., 2015). Succession planning supports knowledge transfer with employees to retain critical business information.

Leaders prepare high performing individuals to succeed them when they retire or leave the organization. Experienced leaders typically have a succession plan in place for key positions (Richardson, 2014). Attracting talented employees is a succession strategy preferred to finding a leadership heir (Manning et al., 2015). Succession planning is the coaching and mentoring of existing employees for future critical positions (Prestia, Dyess & Sherman, 2014). A successful succession transition required the self-leadership and role transparency by the departing employee (Flynn & Rutherford, 2018). Mentoring is a succession practice used to transfer knowledge that the organization requires to a high perform employees involved (Prestia et al., 2014). Coaching and mentoring individuals through knowledge sharing enhances succession planning. Employee development includes identifying candidates with high potential and providing mentoring for important roles within the organization (Flynn & Rutherford, 2018). Succession planning strategies include proactive efforts to identify internally and developing employees with high,

emerging potential (Prestia et al., 2014). Skills in complex situations, the extension of effort, attitude, and actions, were considerations in successor identification (Patidar et al., 2016). When leaders do not articulate a strategy for succession, organizations do not have a proper successor in the event of an unplanned departure of an employee (Tsui & Proctor, 2017). A succession plan prepares organizations to continue without interruption due to unplanned departures in critical roles or functions.

Formalized succession plans and career planning ensure that critical programs continue. Career planning when used to prepare for replacing individuals, also assists with succession planning (Webb, Diamond-Wells, & Jeffs, 2017). Organizational managers must identify the employees' potential and assist them to achieve their potential (Zhu & Manjarrez, 2017). Formalized succession plans ensure that critical programs will continue after individuals in critical or leadership positions leave the organization (Stewart, 2016). Identifying skills needed for critical programs and identifying individuals to develop will ensure the organization is prepared for unplanned departures. Succession plan processes that have organizational purpose and that are documented and developed by management are most effective (Kariuki & Ochiri, 2017). Succession planning includes developing competencies through learning experiences such as job rotations and educational training (Kaihongani, Shukla, Zenon, & Mbabazize, 2016). Individuals are developed through formal succession planning to ensure the competencies for success are transferred.

### **Knowledge Management**

Knowledge management is sharing of business information with all employees. An important factor determining an organizations market position is knowledge management (Cupiał, Szelag-Sikora, Sikora, Rorat, & Niemiec, 2018). Knowledge management is defined as the use of education, best practices, employee training and development to prepare employees for knowledge sharing (Basu, 2014). A conceptual tool for managers to ensure knowledge capture, creation, transference, and sharing occurs in support of organizational performance (Massingham, 2018). Leaders use innovation as a way to manage knowledge, which adds value to organizations (Benlabsir, Koubaa, & Benchrifa, 2018). Innovation is motivated through a knowledge management process which includes capturing, distributing, and using knowledge (Salajeghe, Mehdizadeh, & Nazeri, 2018). Knowledge management contributes to the innovation, competitiveness, and financial performance of organizations (Ramos Cerdas, 2018). Knowledge management allow resources to be shifted and retained from one employee to another (Bulitia, Wanjala, & Mwangi, 2018). Knowledge management includes employees transferring their knowledge to others.

Knowledge management and innovation requires the employees to be willing to share their knowledge and expertise to others within the organization. Knowledge governance plays a role in knowledge sharing (Cao & Xiang, 2012). Knowledge management includes an infrastructure capability and business strategy to affect the performance of the business. Leaders manage the infrastructure capability and business strategy which has a positive association with the knowledge management process

(Rezaeian & Bagheri, 2018). Knowledge management provides a competitive advantage by retaining business information. When employees leave efficiency and productivity is maintained when a knowledge management program is established. An effective knowledgement management program includes elements such as: support to employees to become more effective, provide ways to increase innovation and develop new organizational knowledge, therefore, strengthening the completive advantage of the organization (Tjakraatmadja, Ghazali, Putranto, Pringgabayu, & Badriyah, 2017). Implementing a knowledge management process will increase the innovation capacity of the organization to be more successful (Benlabsir et al., 2018). Knowledge process capabilities and creative organizational learning support knowledge management infrastructure and improve organizational performance (North & Kumta, 2018). Innovation and organizational success are improved by proper knowledge management.

Knowledge management strategies support innovation and influence performance. Barriers to knowledge transfer are differ based on leaders' understanding and use of knowledge management (Lin, Wu, & Yen, 2012). Innovation and performance within an organization is influenced by knowledge transfer strategies (Bulitia et al., 2018). Managers design knowledge management strategies that will achieve higher innovation, effectiveness, efficiency, and profitability (Bulitia et al., 20118). Enhanced innovation and profitability can be achieved with incorporating proper knowledge management strategies. Knowledge management is a mechanism to enhance innovation and performance (Imran, Ilyas, Aslam, & Fatima, 2018). For successful knowledge management to occur, leaders encourage employees to share ideas, interact, and work

together (Bulitia et al., 2018). Employees are encouraged to share experiences and ideas to contribute to knowledge management.

Factors affecting knowledge management include: senior management, social capital and employee's job expertise (Pee & Kankanhalli, 2016). Other factors that affect knowledge management include: leadership, performance-oriented culture, training and development practices, and skills. Knowledge management thrives through positive leadership behaviors that support knowledge transfer and fails in organizations when this positive leadership behavior is absent (Donate & de Pablo, 2015). Effective knowledge management and knowledge alignment positively influence project management targets and business profitability.

Knowledge management programs contribute to employee performance and organizational goals. Knowledge management enhances the competitive advantage and improves organizational success (Kotamarty, 2017). Knowledge management is an important organizational resource that provides the ability to be innovative and respond quicker to change (Kotamarty, 2017). Knowledge management programs designed to match the organizational culture increases the success of the process (Wang & Yang, 2016). Organizational performance is enhanced by employees sharing knowledge. Knowledge management is critical for organizational growth and leads to improved organizational performance and business outcomes (Kotamarty, 2017). Cultural and organizational context shape the acceptance of knowledge sharing strategies and systems (Alsam, Rehman, & Imran, 2016). Knowledge sharing strategies align with the organizational culture and values that influence the behaviors of the employees.

Knowledge management programs are used to ensure success but also align with the culture. Organizational culture provides the basis for effective knowledge management and learning (Mueller, 2014). Knowledge management programs designed to match the organizational culture increases the success of organizational processes (Tong et al., 2015). The corporate culture includes values and beliefs that shape organizational behavior to see knowledge sharing as a natural daily activity (Mueller, 2014). Creating a culture of knowledge sharing will engage the employees across in sharing information (Rahman, Moonesar, Hossain, & Islam, 2018). The type of organizational culture is fundamental in building and reinforcing knowledge transfer throughout the organization which will influence how employees learn, acquire, and share knowledge (Mueller, 2014). Knowledge sharing is an aspect of the organizational culture. An organizational culture that does not support knowledge transfer will negatively influence knowledge management (Rahman et al., 2018). Knowledge transfer strategies that supported by organizational culture will result in innovation and a competitive advantage for the organization (Al Saifi, 2015). Creating a culture as a learning organization encourage employees to share knowledge across departments and with each other (Rahman et al., 2018). The type of organizational culture can influence organizational knowledge through the integration of values, ethics, and trust (Bratianu, 2015). To increase knowledge sharing and organizational learning, leaders should promote affective trust building in daily operations (Ansari & Malik, 2017). The organizational culture has a significant influence on knowledge sharing and job satisfaction (Kianto, Vanhala, & Heilmann, 2016). Knowledge sharing has been

positively correlated with affective trust, cognitive trust, social networking and organizational learning (Bratianu, 2015). Organizational culture of trust also provides a foundation for knowledge sharing.

Continuous learning culture supports knowledge transfer strategies. An organizational culture of continuous learning and change contributes to successful knowledge transfer (Al Saifi, 2015). Creating a culture of knowledge transfer will require influencing employees to support knowledge transfer (Zhang & Ng, 2012). The success of knowledge sharing relies on the creation of new knowledge and sharing of existing knowledge through personal interactions (Tong et al., 2015). Employees engaged is sharing experiences and ideas contribute to knowledge transfer. Four factors that influence knowledge transfer by influencing employee's attitude toward knowledge transfer: utilitarian motivation, control believe, hedonic motivation, and contextual force (Zhang & Ng, 2012). Manager support and culture contribute positively in motivating employees to transfer knowledge (Al Saifi, 2015). Employees with high self-efficacy were able to overcome barriers to knowledge transfer (Zhang & Ng, 2012). Coaching to knowledge transfer behavior as a performance expectation results in increased knowledge transfer behavior (Mwangi, 2018). Managers must create a save culture for employees to share knowledge.

Leaders must engage in creating an environment that support knowledge transfer. Empowering organizational leaders will shape employees' attitudes that lead to the desired knowledge transfer behavior in organizations (Rahman et al., 2018).

Organizations that create a culture of trust between employees and managers encourages

positive leadership behaviors and promotes conditions where employees find value in sharing knowledge Carmeli et al., 2011). Leaders must create a culture that encourage knowledge transfer. Support from managers is important for knowledge transfer, when organizational leaders set clear expectations and reward managers for encouraging knowledge transfer (Rahman et al., 2018). Clear expectations for knowledge transfer is needed for employees to engage in knowledge transfer.

### **Knowledge Loss**

Knowledge loss influences organization performance negatively when knowledgeable employees leave the organization. A significant business risk is created with the loss of knowledge as employees leave the organization (Rigby, Zhu, Donadelli, & Mockus, 2016). Organizations face knowledge loss when employees do not transfer information, employees quit a job without documenting knowledge or training replacement, and when knowledge is difficult to obtain (Massingham, 2018). To avoid knowledge loss, knowledge transfer as part of business processes, and systems is critical (Lin, Chang, & Tsai, 2016). When employees leave an organization without transferring knowledge, job and organizational knowledge is lost. The connection between knowledge transfer, succession planning, and the importance of developing and implementing plans could impact employee turnover (Rigby, 2016). Leaders who encourage knowledge transfer within employees' daily activities can reduce knowledge loss when unexpected turnover happens (Lin et al., 2016). Exit interviews can assist leaders to avoid or minimize losing critical knowledge (Massingham, 2018). To ensure continued business success, knowledge must be transferred prior to employees leaving (Burmeister & Deller,

2016). Knowledge retention is a common problem faced by organizational leaders, and if knowledge transfer is lacking, difficulties exist in attaining ample knowledge after employees leave (Lin et al., 2016). To create a competitive advantage, organizations should implement knowledge retention strategies (Lin et al., 2016). The organizational structure and culture will have a significant effect on knowledge retention (Acharya & Mishra, 2017). A competitive advantage is created for organizations with knowledge transfer strategies.

## **Knowledge Transfer**

Retaining job knowledge and company history is essential for organizational success. Knowledge is regarded as a strategic asset and the sharing of the employee job and company knowledge is critical to organization success (Mueller, 2014). A competitive advantage is created when leaders identify and overcome barriers to knowledge transfer (Cao & Xiang, 2012). Employees have a positive experience with transfer knowledge strategies when they are supported by leaders (Krylova, Vera, & Crossan, 2016). Knowledge transfer is a competitive organizational advantage. Knowledge transfer is important for innovation, organizational learning, the development of new skills and capabilities that lead to increased productivity and efficiencies creating a competitive advantage (Mueller, 2014). Intellectual capital is considered significant assets that contribute to the competitive advantage and survivability of an organization (Obeidat, Abdallah, Aqqad, Akhoershiedah, & Maqableh, 2016). The transfer of knowledge contributes to an increase in productivity, efficiencies, innovation, motivation of employees, and a competitive advantage of an organization. Close friendships, trust

among peers, and proactive learning will reduce the difficulties of knowledge transfer (Nakauchi, Washburn, & Klein, 2017). Knowledge transfer is of strategically important as innovation is distributed across a variety of different employees (Elrehail et al., 2018). Knowledge transfer is needed to ensure innovation, and a competitive advantage.

Organizations not engaged in knowledge transfer strategies experience a loss of knowledge as employees depart. The inability or unwillingness to transfer knowledge keeps knowledge from flowing and is a reason for knowledge transfer failure (Areekkuzhiyil, 2016). Employees can be a barrier to knowledge transfer of businesscritical knowledge, which is another reason why some strategies fail (Farid, Davaji, & Barani, 2016). Knowledge ambiguity inhibits the knowledge transfer process (Sheng, Chang, Teo, & Lin, 2013). Change of behavior, lack of trust, and lack of time are the critical barriers to successful knowledge transfer (Razmerita, Kirchner, & Nielsen, 2016). Barriers to knowledge transfer increases knowledge loss within an organization. Successful knowledge transfer relies on many factors, such as people, organizational structure, culture, process and strategy, and information communication technology (Sheng et al., 2013). Knowledge transfer occurs through social networks, personnel movement, routines and alliances (Nakauchi et al., 2017). A higher level of innovation exists when employees seek and maintain knowledge transfer capability (Lai, Lui, & Tsang, 2016). Higher levels of innovation and performance are achieved when an organization increases knowledge internalization (Sheng et al., 2013). Employees influence the success of knowledge transfer which also contributes to innovation and organizational performance.

Knowledge creation is needed for organizational success. Researchers determined that organizational learning and knowledge transfer influences competitive advantage and strategic behaviors (Argote & Fahrenkopf, 2016). Knowledge can be shared across the organization and knowledge gained can be assist in new knowledge creation (Chumg, Seaton, Cooke, & Ding, 2016). Knowledge transfer within a project-based organization is increasingly more difficult as each project team operates independent of other project teams (Bartsch, Ebers, & Maurer, 2013). However, sharing the knowledge would increase efficiencies and effectiveness of the project teams across the organization. Project teams often have little motivation to share their knowledge with other project teams (Bartsch et al., 2013). Building relationships with co-workers and social capital plays an important role in facilitating organizational learning (Bartsch et al., 2013). Knowledge sharing enables employees to be innovative and resourceful leading to increased productivity (Tufail, Ismail, & Zahra, 2016). Trust and personal relationships among the employees and management increase the sharing of knowledge (Sankowska, 2016). An organizational culture of trust and relationships also support knowledge transfer.

Organizations without a formal knowledge transfer process experience knowledge loss. Knowledge transfer cannot be successful when organizational leaders do not document and record employees' knowledge (Berson et al., 2015). Documenting organizational information, best practices, experiences, and ideas contribute to improved organizational performance (Navidi, Hassanzadeh, & Zolghadr Shojai, 2017). However, some employees resist documenting knowledge, as they do not perceive the value of

documenting and lack interpersonal trust (Navidi et al., 2017). Organizational leaders are faced with the problem of knowledge retention, and when knowledge transfer is lacking, the needed knowledge is not being documented before employees leave (Levallet, & Chan, 2019). Leaders must influence knowledge transfer among employees and formalize their proper documentation. Despite the need for knowledge retention, employees may decide not to participate in knowledge transfer to retain power and protect feelings (Navidi et al., 2017). Leaders who foster a culture where knowledge transfer is encouraged, trusted, socially accepted, and part of everyday life, will mitigate knowledge loss (Kucharska & Kowalczyk, 2016). Knowledge transfer provides a proactive approach to addressing knowledge loss especially with an increased number of employees leaving the workforce (Bernard, 2017). Formal knowledge transfer process increases the success of knowledge retention.

Organizations with formal knowledge transfer strategies have improved performance. Knowledge sharing leads to increase creativity and innovation in organizations (Sankowska, 2016). Organizations with communication and knowledge sharing strategies are the best predictors for innovation of new products over time (Carmeli et al., 2013). Organizations with an open communication culture results in improved knowledge sharing among the employees (Carmeli et al., 2013). Organizations have a competitive advantage with formal knowledge transfer strategies. Organizational knowledge and ability to transfer the knowledge is a strategic asset for creating a competitive advantage (Chumg et al., 2016). Knowledge transfer is an essential component of succession planning to safeguard organizational specific knowledge

(Sibbald, Wathen, & Kothari, 2017). Knowledge transfer is important for innovation and competitiveness. Employee behaviors and culture play an important role in knowledge transfer (Sibbald et al., 2017). Knowledge transfer is successful when critical business specific knowledge being integrated into another employee (Dong et al., 2017). Leaders are seeking to manage knowledge flow of valuable company resources to distribute knowledge within the organization prior to individual leaving the company with the specific knowledge (Parboteeah, Jackson, & Wilkinson, 2016). Knowledge transfer process relies on the creation of new knowledge and sharing of existing knowledge through interactions (Tong et al., 2015). Knowledge transfer strategies support employee behaviors and the organizational culture are more successful when employees have more positive behaviors and are more engaged.

Leaders must support knowledge transfer strategies to increase success. Leaders influence workers to learn and use experiences to help others achieve knowledge transfer in the organization and applies information management as opportunities to be innovative (Donate & de Pablo, 2015). Organizations are able to benefit from knowledge transfer when knowledge transfer strategies are understood by leaders (Parboteeah et al., 2016). The transfer of information and experiences has led to increased creativity and innovation in organizations (Carmeli et al., 2013). The communication and the amount of information transfer about experiences of an organization are the best predictors for innovation of future products (Carmeli et al., 2013). Knowledge is one of the most important resources for a creating a competitive advantage (Sankowska, 2016). The retaining and learning of job skills among employees requires a knowledge transfer

process. Knowledgeable employees are critical part of the organization; their skills and experience contributes to the productivity of the organization.

Human resource strategies are critical in planning and developing employees for future organizational goals. Human resource enhances an employee's abilities and knowledge through recruitment and training, motivates employees' behaviors, and encourages continuous growth and development to increase skills and knowledge (Battistelli, Odoardi, Vandenberghe, Napoli, & Piccione, 2019). Knowledge transfer, knowledge creation, and knowledge dissemination are an important aspects of the human resources process. Implementing knowledge transfer processes in organizations will improve organizational and individual performance through innovation and creativity with the employees (Sankowska, 2016). Knowledge transfer initiatives influence company values regarding knowledge sharing, enhances the culture of the organization, and strengthens innovation (Mueller, 2014). Knowledge transfer is needed for efficiency management as it empowers employees to work together efficiently (Zafar, Ishaq, Shoukat, & Rizwan, 2014). Knowledge is regarded as a strategic asset and successful sharing of knowledge is critical to organization success (Mueller, 2014). Corporate values and culture must support knowledge transfer to improve organization success.

Retaining business critical knowledge supports overall organizational performance. Knowledge transfer is a source to enhance organizational efficiency and has a direct influence on employee motivation (Zafar et al., 2014). Knowledge transfer is essential to enable employees to work together efficiently when they are intrinsically motivated (Zafar et al., 2014). An organizational culture that encourages knowledge

transfer will support innovation. Knowledge transfer is important for innovation, organizational learning, the development of new skills that lead to increased productivity and efficiencies thus creating a competitive advantage (Mueller, 2014). Employee motivation contributes to knowledge transfer in two ways; the reward of the process itself and it enhances the individuals' participation of knowledge (Zafar et al., 2014). The findings demonstrate that knowledge transfer has a significant positive relationship with employee motivation (Zafar et al., 2014). Organizational culture that supports employees working together will enhance participation is considered knowledge transfer.

A learning organization supports knowledge transfer. The importance of managing knowledge transfer is to create a learning organization that continues to adapt to the changing environment (Zafar et al., 2014). Through human resources, a culture can be created encouraging knowledge sharing to meet organizational goals (Jin-Feng, Ming-Yan, Li-Jie, & Jun-Ju, 2017). Exploring the relationships among strategic human resources management (HRM), knowledge sharing, and innovation performance, a gap in knowledge transfer literature exists. The use of strategic knowledge mapping identifies knowledge owners and create a clear link to enable employees to connect with each other (Leyer, Schneider, & Claus, 2016). The importance of strategic HRM in innovation performance is outline in knowledge transfer literature. Knowledge sharing activates should be strategized by human resources to build a learning culture (Tong et al., 2015). HRM practices are essential to influencing and shaping the skills, attitudes, and behaviors of employees to achieve organizational goals (Chen & Huang, 2009). A positive relationship between human resources management and knowledge transfer assist leaders

to understand the importance for knowledge transfer within the organization (Runhaar & Sanders, 2016). HRM practices in managing knowledge acquisitions, sharing, and application stimulates creative and innovative thoughts (Chen & Huang, 2009). HRM and knowledge transfer create a learning culture.

Employee participation in knowledge transfer is driven by their manager's support of sharing knowledge behaviors. It is important for managers to communicate knowledge transfer guidelines, policies, and procedures to support a knowledge transfer culture (Carmeli et al., 2013). Organizations that link incentives to recognition of the knowledge transfer have improved the fostering a knowledge transfer environment (Zhang, 2018). When managers support knowledge transfer, employees experience heighten enjoyment, engagement, and participation as supported by leadership (Hussein, Singh, Farouk, & Sohal, 2016). Building a positive correlation between management and a knowledge transfer culture will result in increased participation (Zhang, 2018). Leaders play an important role in motivating employees to participate in knowledge transfer. Motivating employees to share knowledge and participate in knowledge transfer requires manager support (Hussein et al., 2016). Employees experience empowerment to transfer knowledge when supported by management and not transferring the knowledge to others in the organization with the lack of support from managers (Jiang, Flores, Leelawong, & Manz, 2016). Leader behaviors model interest in employee well-being, fairness, and open communication, positively affect employees' behavior to participate in knowledge transfer (Edú-Valsania, Moriano, & Molero, 2016). Leaders behaviors will influence

employees sharing their experiences by implementing formal knowledge transfer strategies.

There are many barriers that interfere with successful knowledge transfer activities. Knowledge provides power and some employees are hesitant to transfer knowledge because of the fear of being replaced (Wu & Lin, 2013). Knowledge is gained from work experiences and shared knowledge would permit job satisfaction, exceeding performance expectations, and career development (Lee, 2016). The loss of knowledge power would result in negative knowledge transfer attitudes (Wu & Lin, 2013). A bureaucratic organizational structure is organized with a high degree of formality will limit employees to transfer sensitive and important knowledge (Akturan & Cekmecelioğlu, 2016). Because of feeling embarrassed if the knowledge transferred is wrong or inadequate, employees often do not want to participate in knowledge transfer (Ghobadi & Mathiassen, 2016). Employees will not participate in knowledge transfer if they feel their knowledge is not adequate. Holding on to knowledge is beneficial to the employee as it makes that employee a critical resource for organizational success (Wu & Lin, 2013). Leaders are a strategic factor influence knowledge transfer by enabling their organizations to integrate, share, and use knowledge innovatively (Masa'deh et al., 2016). Ease of use and integrity will positively influences' knowledge transfer behaviors in employees (Bilgihan, Barreda, Okumus, & Nusair, 2016). Some employees who participate in knowledge transfer have experience fear or the threat of losing their job, power, and personal advantages, and choose not to transfer knowledge because of not trusting the manager or other employee (Wu, Rivas, & Liao, 2017). Sharing of

information is limited when employees do not have trust, which negatively influences the effectiveness of business process (Rutten, Blaas-Franken, & Martin, 2016). Barriers can influence employees to not participate in knowledge transfer.

A trust culture is needed for employees to participate in knowledge transfer. Individuals who do not trust are less likely to participate in transfer knowledge (Dessie, 2017). Sharing of information is limited when employees do not have trust which will negatively influence the effectiveness of business process (Rutten, Blaas-Franken, & Martin, 2016). When there is a sense of trust, employees engage in knowledge transfer between project teams and departments (Dessie, 2017). To have employees to benefit from knowledge transfer from co-works experiences, organizational leaders need to ensure that a culture of trust and collaboration is established (Khvatova, Block, Zhukov, & Lesko, 2016). Trust is beneficial to the knowledge transfer process-taking place within the organization (Dessie, 2017). If the individual requesting the knowledge transfer is untrusting there is a reduced chance that knowledge transfer will occur, even if the individual sharing the knowledge would normally transfer the knowledge (Yeo, Wildman, & Choi, 2017). Knowledge transfer is a social interaction and will not occur if employees do not trust the individuals needing the information (Dessie, 2017). In the absence of trust, developing a formal knowledge transfer policy will not be enough to encourage knowledge transfer (Raudeliūnienė, Meidutė-Kavaliauskienė, & Vileikis, 2016). A culture that supports hoarding knowledge to gain power, authority, and career advancement opportunities, will negatively influence knowledge transfer in the

organization (Muqadas, Rehman, Aslam, & Ur-Rahman, (2017). A culture built on trust will support employees to share knowledge.

Leaders must develop a culture that will support knowledge transfer. Organizational leaders will increase knowledge transfer when creating an environment that influences and motivates employees to participate in knowledge transfer (Han, Seo, Yoon, & Yoon, 2016). Employees motivated by delivering new ideas and innovative product or process improvement engage actively in knowledge transfer (Sathitsemakul & Calabrese, 2017). Knowledge sharing plays an important role building the relationship between knowledge sharing and job satisfaction (Tong et al., 2015). Rewards and recognition lead to increased knowledge transfer reducing organizational knowledge to be lost (Razmerita et al., 2016). Leaders must motivate employees by creating an environment that encourages knowledge transfer. Emotional intelligence is a positive contributor to knowledge transfer (Sathitsemakul & Calabrese, 2017). Job satisfaction, knowledge sharing attitudes, communication styles, and performance are correlated (Tong et al., 2015). Knowledge transfer is more successful when employees have a desire to help, need for recognition, and enjoy social engagement (Sathitsemakul & Calabrese, 2017). A culture that encourages trust and team work will motivate employees to engage in knowledge transfer.

Tacit and explicit knowledge. Two types of knowledge are tacit knowledge and explicit knowledge. Tacit knowledge is developed through experiences that individuals have had, and the knowledge is maintained in their heads (Mezghani, Exposito, & Drira, 2016). Tacit knowledge is important task information, and is often difficult to share

(Abbariki, Snell, & Easterby-Smith, 2017). An additional core value for competitive advantage is tacit knowledge (Wipawayangkool & Teng, 2016). Tacit knowledge is more difficult to share. Individuals are able to review a problem or situation within an area of expertise and intuitively are able to resolve the problem, but not are able to communicate how they know what to do (Wu et al., 2017). This awareness is their recognition of their tacit knowledge and is not managed or shared by manuals (Abbariki et al., 2017). Often organizational leaders have difficulty obtaining tacit knowledge because the information is not documented and is only in the minds of employees (Mezghani et al., 2016). Organizational leaders struggle to record information that is built on intuition, skills, beliefs, and best practices (Mezghani et al., 2016). Both tacit and explicit knowledge play a role in knowledge creation and creating a completive advantage (Roy & Mitra, 2018). Tacit knowledge sharing is more difficult than explicit knowledge.

Explicit knowledge is easily transferred. Explicit knowledge is written, saved, and readily shared (Federico, Wagner, Rind, Amar-Amoros, Miksah, & Aigner, 2017).

Explicit knowledge may be read or shared but with tacit insight the meaning maybe lost (Cao & Xiang, 2012). Explicit knowledge shared is more consistent than tacit knowledge that may be more challenging to share. Not all knowledge holding employees have the opportunity or motivation or capability to transfer their experiences into explicit knowledge (Roy & Mitra, 2018). Tacit knowledge transfer occurs through sharing best practices and lived experiences with other employees (Cao & Xiang, 2012). Explicit knowledge and tacit knowledge contribute to sharing organizational knowledge that can create a competitive advantage.

### **Transition**

Knowledge transfer strategies in credit unions is critical for retaining important business critical information. Section 1 includes the purpose of the study, the business problem, and relevant research literature on concepts associated with knowledge transfer and the influence on retaining business critical knowledge. The scope of the literature review includes organizational culture, leadership styles, succession planning, and knowledge transfer. Section 2 includes information that links the purpose of the research to experiences and preferences of leaders that have benefited from knowledge transfer. In Section 2 is a description of the research method and design, collections of data, data analysis used, and methods to maintain data reliability and validity. I will provide an overview of the study, findings, and recommendations for future research in Section 3.

## Section 2: The Project

Knowledge transfer is the process of knowledge management occurring between employees that can be affected by factors such as trust, and communication (Marques, La Falce, Marques, De Muylder, & Silva, 2019). The relationship between knowledge transfer and retaining critical business information will be identified. This section includes the purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, data collection, data analysis techniques, reliability, and validity.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore knowledge transfer strategies used by credit union leaders to retain critical business information. Participants included managers and executives of a credit union in Michigan, United States. Findings may contribute to social change for credit union employees sharing knowledge enhancing the skills of other credit union employees that can lead to expansion of employment opportunities. Skilled workers who are more engaged and happier at both work and home will contribute positively to social change by socializing in their communities and sharing skills they learned with others. More skilled employees due to knowledge transfer makes credit union individuals more marketable so that they can pursue job advancements which may improve their living situations.

#### Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to collect and record data, provide data integrity and confidentiality, analyze data, and present the findings. As the primary data collection instrument, my responsibility was to limit potential biases. Also, my role was to interview participants and document comments and insights accurately. I implemented an interview protocol to act as a guide throughout the interviewing process (see Appendix A). Although I am employed by the credit union, I do not have direct reporting or personal relationships with any of the study participants. I interacted with participants related to work business in the past, but have not had any interactions relating to this study. I upheld all ethical standards as required by Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) by following standards to ensure safety of all participants. I followed the required American Psychological Association (APA) research ethics. I reviewed the Belmont Report protocol and completed the Protecting Human Research Participants training by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Office of Extramural Research (certification # 1360589). I protected participants by requiring that each participant review and sign an informed consent form prior to initiating each interview. I provided clear details of the study to participants, informing them that participation is voluntary, and they can withdraw at any time. Safeguards include providing an informed consent form, ensuring voluntary participation, and supporting withdrawing participation from the study at any time.

When experience and education could influence the interpretation of findings, researchers mitigate bias using a standardized instrument and statistical software. To mitigate bias, I did not have any of my direct reports participate in this study. I was transparent regarding the purpose of the study so that participants answered questions openly and honestly. The initial email (see Appendix B) to participants included my

background, purpose of the study, and information that their participation was voluntary. The email also said that participants would not receive rewards or incentives for participating. Participants were asked to review and acknowledge a consent form prior to participating in the interview. Interview questions were drafted to collect data regarding knowledge transfer strategies. I collected only what was said and observed. I confirmed with participants the data collected was what participants shared and not my personal opinion. I used NVivo 12 software to capture words from participants which avoided any personal bias to influence interpretation of findings.

# **Participants**

Participants in this study included managers and executives of a credit union in Michigan, United States who have knowledge transfer experience. Manager and executives were selected using purposive sampling to assure the participants had experience with the research questions on knowledge transfer. The sample included 14 managers or executives from the credit union who participated in knowledge transfer. As the Chief Human Resources Officer at the credit union, I have professional relationships with managers and executives in the credit union. I gained access to participants through the Human Resources Manager of the credit union with authorized email permission from the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). I sent an email to participants including information about myself, the purpose of the study, eligibility criteria, and the consent form.

Participants were informed that participation was voluntary and they could withdraw at any time without any penalty. Participation was kept confidential; data were not collected using the names of participants or organizations. To protect names of participants,

pseudonyms were used such as MGR1 and MGR2. I also offered Skype interviews if participants were unable to meet in person. All data is maintained electronically on a USB drive and will be stored in a locked cabinet in my home office for 5 years.

## Research Method and Design

Research methods commonly used are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. The purpose of this study was to explore strategies used by credit union leaders to retain critical business knowledge and expertise of retiring or leaving credit union employees. To conduct this study, I used a qualitative research method with a case study design.

#### **Research Method**

Qualitative research is applied to understand social or human problems from perspectives of local populations it involves (Pluye & Hong, 2014). The qualitative approach was appropriate for this research because participants shared their own viewpoint about knowledge transfer as well as their values, opinions, and behaviors. Quantitative research focuses on numerical data, measurements, and hypothesis testing (Pluye & Hong, 2014). Quantitative research is used as an investigative tool to examine relationships among variables (Rovai, Baker, & Ponton, 2013). Because I did not gather statistical data or examine relationships between two or more variables, the quantitative methodology was not the best choice for this study. Mixed methods research incorporates both quantitative and qualitative research methods and focuses on numerical data, measurements, and hypothesis testing (Pluye & Hong, 2014). Researchers use the mixed methods approach to develop hypotheses and research tools and combine quantitative and

qualitative data (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). The information being collected did not include numerical data or relationships between variables, and therefore mixed methods was not an appropriate choice.

### **Research Design**

Qualitative research designs include phenomenology, ethnography, grounded theory, and case studies. Phenomenology is philosophically-based and involves lived experiences for the researcher to gain understanding of the experiences of participants (Jackson et al., 2018). In this study, I explored strategies credit union managers and executives used for knowledge transfer. I did not research a shared experience of a phenomenon and consequently, phenomenology was not the best selection. Ethnography is a type of qualitative design that involves describing cultural behaviors within a particular indigenous setting (Farrell et al., 2017). This study does not involve cultural behaviors, making ethnography not a suitable selection. Grounded theory is a qualitative method that focuses on evaluation of data to generate new theoretical explanations and generalized theories based on participants' experiences and supporting data (Belgrave & Seide, 2018). This study was not focused on generating new theoretical explanations, making grounded theory not appropriate for this study. A case study is used to analyze a topic to obtain an understanding of the topic based on the perspectives of participants (Harrison et al., 2017). The qualitative case study approach was chosen because it most appropriate research design to collect data from credit union managers and executives using semistructured interviews to explore strategies being used for knowledge transfer the phenomenon under study.

### **Population and Sampling**

Upon receiving IRB approval and authorization, I obtained permission from the organization (see Appendix C) to conduct a study to collect data about knowledge transfer strategies. The population for this study included eight managers and executives of a credit union located in Michigan, United States. The participants in this study consisted of a Michigan credit union with more than four billion dollars in assets. I solicited the participants through email upon permission from the credit union president and CEO. The email sent contained an inform consent form and suggested dates and times for participating in the interviews.

The research included interviews with managers and executives in credit union who have a successful knowledge transfer program. A qualitative research method was used to understand how leaders are using knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information. The time for semistructured face-to-face interviews was 30 to 45 minutes, and the data collection process took approximately 2 weeks. The census-taking technique used for this qualitative case study was purposive sampling. Purposive sampling is selecting individuals who will be knowledgeable and well-informed about the topic (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). The managers and executives who participated in this study are individuals who possessed the best knowledge regarding the research topic of knowledge transfer.

#### **Ethical Research**

Ethical obligation requires researchers to minimize harm and respect for persons participating in the study (Wolf et al., 2015). Before collecting data, I obtained the

approval of Walden University IRB to conduct the study. IRB reviewed the proposed study to verify that the document fulfills Walden University standard of ethics and was in accordance with U.S. federal regulations. I followed the ethical principles provided by the American Psychological Association. I contacted the participants by email and share information about myslf, the study, and that they can withdraw from the study at any time without any penalties by contacting me by phone or email. They received the consent form and was informed that they would not receive any incentives or rewards for participation in the study. Additional information was collected by reviewing policies, succession plans, and knowledge management processes.

Minimizing risks to the participants and protecting the human rights of participants is a priority during of this study. I minimized risks to the participants by ensuring their names and any company information is kept confidential. I ensured that human rights were not violated during interview by following protocols. Protections include providing informed consent, ensuring voluntarily survey completion, and supporting the ability to withdrawal from the study at any time without negative consequences (Cummings et al., 2015).

I offered each participant a copy of the final summary. I have sole access to all data, which will be saved on an USB drive and stored in a locked cabinet located in my home office for 5 years. The final doctoral manuscript will include Walden University IRB approval identification number.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

I collected data using semistructured interview questions (see Appendix D), taking notes, recording the interview, and review internal organizational documents and websites. Through semistructured interviews, I asked participants open-ended questions to obtain detailed information about their knowledge transfer strategies. All interviews were transcribed for analysis. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to guide the interview process. An interview protocol includes introducing the interviewer, recording the interview, taking notes during the interview, asking additional questions for clarification, and thanking participants (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I downloaded the Voice Recorder application from the Apple Store on my smartphone to audio record each interview and used a notepad to manually take notes. Follow-up questions were asked for clarification. I conducted member checking by having each participant review and verify my interpretation of their responses for accuracy. Member checking identifies feedback from research participants that the information is reflective what they provided (Thomas, 2017). At the expiration of five years, I will destroy all documentation by smashing the USB and shredding all paper documents.

### **Data Collection Technique**

The research question for this study was: What strategies do credit union leaders use to retain critical business information as employees are resigning? To examine the knowledge transfer strategies that business leaders use to retain business critical information, I conducted interviews with the managers and executives of the credit union. Participants reviewed the consent form in advance to the interview and provide a signed

copy before the interview begins. Each participant was asked the same seven questions and each interview took 30 to 45 minutes.

The data collection process involved interviews that used open-ended questions. Once I received approval from the organization, I obtained the names and email addresses of the managers and executives at the credit union from the human resources department. The credit union 25 managers and executives were initially contacted to participate in the study by work email. Of the 25 managers and executives contacted, 14 participated in study. The 14 individuals that agreed to participate received a consent form and details about the study. There were no incentives offered to the participants. This approach allows participants to review the information and at their own discretion and convenience decide to participate or not participate in the study. The timeframe for conducting the interviews was three weeks. Strengthens of the data collection process included ease of use, flexibility of completing interview based on own convenience, and guaranteed valid email by using work email address. Challenges of this process are that some employees may be out of the office on approved leaves, their mail box maybe full, or work demands resulting in rushing through questions. The required number of participants was met within this timeframe therefore no addition email was sent to request additional participants.

The final summary of the research included a descriptive analysis detailing the conclusions. Safeguarding participant information by ensuring confidentiality and protection from potential harm resulting from the research is a primary consideration in the process of data organization (Greenwood, 2016). The recorded audio files obtained

using the Voice Recorder application from each interview are maintained on a password protected USB drive using an alpha numeric coded file name that includes the participant pseudonym and date of the interview. For example, the interview file name for participants was MGR1mmddyyyy, MGR2mmddyyyy. I securely stored all data in a locked container in my home office. I used NVivo 12 software to conduct data analysis, coding, and theme development. All resulting hard copies and USB drive will be stored in the locked container in my home office for five years. At the expiration of 5 years, I will destroy all documentation.

## **Data Analysis**

Data analysis involves presenting and interpreting research data. The research question that guided the study was: What strategies do credit union leaders use to retain critical business information as employees are resigning? Qualitative case study data analysis involves coding and notating themes that developed from the collected data (Howard, 2017). I applied logical techniques to describe, condense, recap, and evaluate data. This analysis of data enabled the discovery of meaningful patterns and themes. The data analysis process begins when the researcher works through the data to determine meaningful themes, patterns, and descriptions that answers the central research question (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Triangulation is a data analysis technique that allows to corroborate information from different types of data sources. The data sources for this study include the semistructured interviews, recordings, transcribed notes, and document review.

I used open-ended semistructured interview questions to gain an understanding of knowledge transfer strategies. The interview questions contained seven questions constructed according to the research question. I created categories, codes, and organized the data into common themes and organize the data into these groups. A technique is to categorize the interview data into groups and provide an explanatory label for each grouping (Howard, 2017). Connecting data between themes helps with analyzing the qualitative research, organizing the data, and comparing written notes and transcripts from recorded interviews (Howard, 2017). Researchers must analyze and interpret the data collected to draw meaning and identify emerging findings to answer the central research question I used NVivo 12 to prepare and code the data to enable for interpretation. As the researcher, I gathered the data, grouped the data, generated themes from the findings, and accessed the data, to find the strategies that business leaders used for knowledge transfer. To prepare the data for analysis, I uploaded the audio files and documents into NVivo to transcribe the audio files and electronic notes word-for-word into Microsoft Word documents. To protect identification, I coded all references to participants (MGR1, MGR2, or MGR3) in the transcribed files.

I compiled data using methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation entailed drawing information from interviews, and a review of documentation. The second step was disassembling the data. I disassembled the data using NVivo 12 software. NVivo 12 identified repeated words used throughout the data and provided codes to represent key words. The third step was reassembling the data. I placed coded and related words into clusters to seek patterns of information. The fourth step of data

analysis is interpreting the data (Yin, 2018). This step required careful and thoughtful efforts to reduce any personal bias that may alter the data analysis process. By maintaining a professional approach to interpretation, research is less likely to infuse personal bias and opinion into the interpretation of data (Yin, 2018). The fifth and final step was drawing meaningful conclusions from the data. I ensured that I drew meaningful conclusions by identifying key themes from the findings to draw conclusions that may answer the research question. Using thematic analysis, I focused on the themes and compared those ideas to the literature and the conceptual framework for this study. The conceptual framework was Nonaka and Takeuchi's socialization, externalization, combination, and internalization model for knowledge creation. The themes identified in the study align with the conceptual framework.

## Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are concerns of measurement involved in qualitative method. Repeating the test procedures and having the same results when interviewing participants demonstrate reliability (Yin, 2017). Reliability is one element to determine the precision of the study, and that if repeated, consistent results would occur (Wong & Cooper, 2016).

### Reliability

To ensure reliability, a documented process would provide others who would replicate the processes and the survey administration process reflects the consistency of the study (Wong & Cooper, 2016). Reliability refers to the ability to which using similar study techniques can yield consistent results when repeated (Lub, 2015). Reliability is an

indicator of the trustworthiness of the research results (Wong & Cooper, 2016). To increase the reliability of qualitative research is to implement an interview protocol (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I followed the interview protocol I developed for this study to ensure consistency in participant questioning, which will increase the dependability of the findings. Qualitative researchers use interview transcription and member checking to improve dependability of findings (Wong & Cooper, 2016). Interview transcription supports the data analysis process and increases dependability of the research (Dasgupta, 2015). Dependability is enhanced by member checking which allows participants to confirm their statements and avoid misinterpretation of data (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I followed ethical standards and interpret study results based on scholarly methods to determine if construct relationships existed to accept or reject the hypothesis. I followed requirements set by Walden IRB and the Walden University doctoral study rubric and process.

### Validity

Validity refers to the truthfulness of the research instrument in addressing the topic of the study (Wong & Cooper, 2016). Validity is the credibility or trustworthiness of the research findings (Connelly, 2016). Qualitative researchers use member checking to establish credibility in research (Connelly, 2016). I used member checking as a means of extending the conversation with participants to increase credibility of data. I followed the interview protocol to ensure consistency in the interview process enhancing credibility of collected data. Important aspects of validity in qualitative research is transferability and confirmability. Transferability refers to the relevance of the findings to various contexts

(Connelly, 2016). Confirmability addresses the degree to which the findings are unbiased, attributed to participants, and linked to the data (Ang, Embi, & Yunus, 2016). I used the following measures to prevent bias and ensure integrity of the data member checking, appropriate research design, and the use of open-ended interview questions.

### **Transition and Summary**

The content of Section 2 related to the research project designed to address the business problem described in Section 1. The section begins with the purpose of the study: a description of the study method and design, and considerations made in the design of the research project. Section 2 includes the study method, research design, participant criteria, target population, sampling method, and how ethical treatment of participants. I also described the interview process, data collection, how the data was organized, and analyzed data. Finally, I presented a description of how reliability and validity influences quality of the study. Section 3 includes an overview of the study, a presentation of findings, applicability to professional practice, and implications for social change. In addition, I provided recommendations for action and further study based upon the results of this study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Section 3 includes the findings of this study and applicability or results for social change. In addition, presented in this section are themes that are effective among leaders to retrain business critical information. This section includes the presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for future research, reflections, and a conclusion.

#### Introduction

The objective of the qualitative case study was to explore knowledge transfer strategies used by credit union leaders to retain critical business information. I used semistructured interviews to collect information from 14 leaders from a credit union located in Michigan, United States. Participants solicited for voluntary participation had implemented knowledge transfer strategies in their divisions. The credit union located in Michigan provided additional historical information related to the topic of study.

Following my analysis of participant interview data, I organized the findings into three principal themes: documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and presentations and meetings. Overall analysis of the three principal themes yielded that communication, mission alignment, and motivation promoted knowledge transfer among employees. The identified themes are techniques leaders use to foster knowledge transfer and knowledge creation to retain business critical information. The knowledge transfer strategies identified by participants align with knowledge transfer theories.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

For this qualitative case study, I interviewed 14 leaders and used semistructured interviews to address the research question: What strategies do credit union leaders use to retain critical business information as employees are resigning? In addition, I reviewed web links and program records to triangulate data to enhance my understanding of the information provided and improve the validity of the information collected from participants. Interviews were based on seven semistructured questions designed to solicit individual experiences from participants. From these seven questions, three common themes emerged from the data analysis findings: documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and presentations and meetings. These were specific strategies used by leaders to transfer tacit and explicit knowledge between expert and new employees to retain business critical information. Collected statements obtained from participants addressed the research question to explore knowledge transfer strategies leaders use to retain critical business information. Interview questions were designed to collect identifying statements related to knowledge transfer strategies used by leaders. Face-toface interviews were conducted at the credit union's headquarters in Michigan in a private office, and each interview lasted between 30 and 45 minutes. After summarizing participants' statements, obtaining agreement of statements, and coding all data using NVivo 12 software, I analyzed data and identified 10 codes, of which I grouped into three themes.

### **Theme 1: Documentation**

All 14 participants expressed that it was important to document processes and procedures as a primary strategy for transferring knowledge. MGR2, MGR5, MGR8, and MGR10 indicated that proper documentation of procedures serves as a guide to assist employees in understanding and comprehending work processes for completing certain responsibilities. MGR4 and MGR7 indicated that documentation of what has worked, new innovated processes, and required processes to follow for success is a strategy used for knowledge transfer. MGR7 stated, "lessons learned are documented to use in training and future activities." MGR2, MGR6, MGR 11 and MGR12 shared that experienced employees document existing and new work processes used by employees, and any lessons learned from projects that can be applied in future situations. The credit union management focused on documenting established work procedures, new work procedures or solutions, clarifying the documentation to include changes to procedures, and lessons learned for completed projects for future activities.

MGR5, MGR8, MGR9, MGR12, MGR13, and MGR14 indicated that the types of documentation they used includes manuals, reference guides, electronic storage of information credit union intranet available for all employees to access, standard procedures for new employees and to increase depth of knowledge of current employees for understanding business critical information for day-to-day operations. MGR12 stated, "documentation plays an integral role in knowledge transfer and retention and is an effective method for organization to retain critical information." All participants indicated that the documentation of knowledge retained by employees is important for

knowledge transfer and retention of business-critical information. Proper documentation of business-critical information is a method used for transferring information to employees. MGR3 stated that documentation by employees' of current work processes, new work processes as they occur, and lessons learned from the completion of projects to be used for future decision making needs. Employees properly documenting allows for identification of common procedures and specific decisions made to assist with future decision making (Massaro, Moro, Aschauer, & Fink, 2019). MGR3 said, "documentation of processes and procedures provides resources for others to reference in a time of need." A standard operating procedure documented can prove effective way to transfer knowledge to others easily using explicit knowledge (Zia & Shafiq, 2017). MGR3 said, "documentation of processes and procedures eliminates having a single source of business-critical information." MGR4, MGR3, MGR6, and MGR11 shared the types of documentation that they have their employees create include reference guides, manuals, and standard operating procedures. These documents are used to help new employees review and understand the day to day functions and responsibilities. MGR14 indicated they created a culture for managers to feel comfortable documenting big picture critical information to provide a guide for employees to reference as they are making decisions. MGR5 stated, "creating an environment for employees to develop and share documenting procedures is an expectation for managers." MGR4 established a formal review process for employees to follow after each project is completed to document the steps they took, and discuss new processes that would be better suited for future similar projects. MGR5 stated, "all documented procedures are easily available and searched by employees."

MGR13 indicated that the credit union has created a culture of sharing information in order to help new employees be successful. MGR12 indicated that it is especially great when procedures document how to do something or how to make decision in a particular situation. MGR9 indicated that they have an employee who is responsible for ensuring that documents are accurate and easily understood for employees to use. MGR8 stated, "having detailed documented procedures where employees can reference these documents as needed for making decisions or understanding the steps they must follow to complete a task." MGR14 indicated that proper documentation of work procedures allows for employees to go back and review information for have to complete processes. All 14 participants indicated that proper documentation of procedures and policies is helpful for employees to be able to perform their job responsibilities and make proper decisions. Thirteen of the 14 participants indicated that documentation of processes and procedures is a resource for training employees. All participants indicated that documentation of processes and procedures allows for employees to learn from written processes and procedures.

## Theme 2: Cross-Training and Job Shadowing

Cross-training is a method used prior to employee transition into a new position or leaving the organization (Gluesing, 2015). Cross-training enhances the learning of employees to gain new skills from experienced employees at the organization (Gluesing, 2015). Thirteen of the 14 participants acknowledged cross-training as one of the most effective techniques being used to transfer knowledge. Thirteen participants responded with they use cross-training as strategy to transfer knowledge between employees. Cross-

training is a viable method of transferring knowledge between employees (Büke, Araz, & Fowler, 2016). MGR4 thought that cross-training was "a good method" for employees to learn from performing the task themselves and engaging with a coworker in explaining the process. MGR6 said, "cross-training provides new employees with hands on experience to learn tasks, polices, and procedures, which helps the employee understand and apply the new skills." MGR12 commented that cross-training was a great way of sharing information and procedures for new employees to learn new skills and build relationships with coworkers. MGR11 stated that cross-training in a different department to gain new skills or understanding of concepts is a great opportunity for employees to advance their knowledge and to bring that new knowledge back to train the team. MGR7 said "employees are cross-trained and then given the opportunity to perform the tasks independently while partnered with the employee to create confidence and ask questions as they are applying the new skill learned."

MGR3, MGR4, MGR6, MGR7, MGR10, and MGR12 indicated that job shadowing is used to provide an employee the opportunity to work alongside more experienced employees, so they can learn and develop within their current role. Job shadowing is a process where an employee from one area of an organization has an opportunity to work with and gain experience of the role of another employee and potentially gain awareness into that specific job (Mader, Mader, & Alexander, 2017). MGR12 stated that job shadowing is a great way for employees to develop an understanding of other positions and departments. During the interview, six of 14 participants identified job shadowing as a knowledge transfer strategy that helped

employees gain and retain new knowledge. Research of credit union policies and the interviewed participants indicated that the job shadowing process allows for employees to request to cross-train in different department to learn new knowledge and that new employees are partnered with more experienced employee to learned new knowledge from shadowing that employee. MGR4 stated that new employees would follow experienced employees performing expected job tasks and responsibilities for the position. MGR6 stated that a barrier they have encountered with cross-training and job shadows includes that sometimes incorrect information is shared or misunderstood.

MGR13 indicated that errors happen in cross-training and those are hard to identify until a later date and additional training is provided. MGR11 stated that with the recent growth within the credit union that often times employees that have been in their roles 6 months are cross training new employees which creates lack of knowledge depth. However, all 14 participants responded that employees are accepting of cross-training and job shadowing knowledge transfer strategies and are very willing participants.

The flow of tacit to explicit knowledge between participants varied even though each of the participants acknowledged using some form of knowledge extraction.

According to Nonaka and Takeuchi (1995), tacit to explicit knowledge transfer are connected. MGR4, MGR6, and MGR7 identified knowledge transfer as personal interactions that happen through two-way communication. MGR9 stated that sharing information verbally in one on one meetings helps employees receive information to do their jobs.

# **Theme 3: Presentations and Meetings**

All 14 participants indicated that department and credit union meetings and presentations were a successful way to transfer business critical information to all employees. The credit union conducts weekly all employee meeting, monthly management meetings, monthly leadership meetings and weekly executive team meetings. During the meetings business critical information is shared with leaders and employees to create knowledge transfer of information. MGR14 said "weekly meetings with their division leadership allows for the opportunity to learn new credit union strategies and knowledge." MGR9 indicated that information is communicated to employees within the division to transfer that knowledge and build understanding. MGR7 indicated that employees conduct bi-weekly knowledge nugget meetings where the team shares knowledge they have learned that would be helpful for others on the team to know. MGR4 conducts weekly meetings with leaders in the division to share knowledge and learn from the team. MGR3 stated that after the completion of a project the team conducts a meeting to review the project successes and areas for improvement to be applied to the next project. MGR9 said "weekly department meetings are a good the opportunity to share knowledge with the team on process improvements and new practices to ensure everyone is on the same page." MGR13 believed that meeting with the leaders of the division sharing knowledge prepares the team for greater success. All 14 participants agreed that verbal communication contributes to increasing knowledge transfer and understanding.

Although verbal communication in meetings and presentations are a viable method of transferring knowledge there are a few barriers that occur. MGR13 indicated that people sometimes focus on what they feel is important and may miss the critical knowledge being shared. MGR14 indicated that people lose focus in meetings and may not retain the knowledge needed to be able to communicate message to employees. MGR6 said "sometimes employees may share the wrong information in meetings creating bad knowledge transfer." MGR10 indicated that team meetings are a great way to transfer knowledge and get the team on the same page. All 14 participants agreed that meetings are a great method to transfer knowledge and give people the opportunity to ask questions for greater understanding. MGR1 indicated that one on one meetings allowed for knowledge transfer and deeper understanding. MGR1 also indicated that department presentations allow for the team to come together are share knowledge from their experiences. MGR6 indicated that department meetings are valuable in transferring knowledge by giving the employees the opportunity to share valuable information with their co-workers. MGR5 said "weekly all employee meetings transfer knowledge to employees of critical things that are happening or coming."

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

The study findings contribute to the understanding of knowledge transfer strategies necessary to retain critical business information as individual leave the organization. Leaders should focus on retaining business critical information as employees leave the organization to remain innovative and competitive. The study adds to the foundation that knowledge transfer of critical business information is essential for

organizations to maintain capacity and utilizing the internal resources. Additionally, this study may contribute to the understanding the value of leadership strategies for knowledge transfer and to build a culture of knowledge transfer among all employees. Empowering employees and creating a culture of knowledge transfer will increase job satisfaction and productivity (Kianto et al., 2016). Business leaders may find the results of the study valuable for their organizations.

The findings from this study might help leaders create and implement knowledge transfer strategies by considering methods that may align with their organizational needs and culture. Leaders are encouraged to create knowledge transfer strategies that encourage tacit and explicit knowledge transfer by utilizing methods in which employees are encouraged and supported to transfer knowledge. The results of knowledge transfer strategies may result in increased productivity by decreasing the loss of knowledge as employees transition positions or retire. The results of this study also relate to knowledge creation theory and leaders must create social interaction, tacit, and explicit knowledge to retain specific knowledge (Nonaka, 1994). Organizational leaders ensure that knowledge transfer of critical business information strategies implemented to ensure business continuity. Organizations that lack effective and essential knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information will face risks of business continuity, financial burdens, and knowledge loss.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Findings in this study include beneficial strategies that create a process for knowledge transfer leading to retention of critical business information. The results

provide leaders with strategies they can apply to retain critical business information for their organizations. An effective knowledge transfer strategy may result in sustainable performance of an organization and may be a factor in positive social change resulting from increased job satisfaction. Organizations with knowledge management strategies in the working environment is linked to high job satisfaction (Kianto et al., 2016). Increased job satisfaction and sustainable growth of a knowledgeable workforce will positively influence society by producing improved economic development. Desired organizational performance outcomes can be enhanced by knowledge sharing practices throughout the organization (Greer & Egan, 2019). This study contains elements that might benefit those that review the results as supporting evidence to knowledge transfer strategies to retain business critical information.

Loss of business-critical information is one potential outcome of knowledge loss attributed to the increased retirement rates. Employees who are engaged in transferring explicit and tacit knowledge reduce productivity losses, and increase the ability of organizational employees to achieve organizational goals (Greer & Egan, 2019). The services provide by employees of the credit union provide financial solutions to meet the financial needs of members. Leaders implementing knowledge transfer strategies for transitioning employees may enhance the delivery of financial assistance to individuals, thereby causing a potential positive effect on social change. The result of this study may have an effect on leaders who support social change resulting from employee satisfaction through learning and increased productivity and quality of life. Another implication for positive social change includes the potential to increase knowledge, growth of leaders,

and increased retention of business-critical information to maintain organizational sustainability.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The purpose of this study was to explore knowledge transfer strategies used by leaders to retain critical business information. Based on the results of this study, leaders should focus on those strategies to transfer knowledge to retain critical business information. Based upon the results of this study, I recommend knowledge management systems, knowledge transfer activities, and leaders' involvement.

Recommendation 1 is: Knowledge management systems. Leaders should focus on developing an effective and efficient method of documenting business critical information that is accurate, easily accessible and understood by employees. Perhaps utilizing a knowledge management system to retain all documents. Proper documentation of information will assist with retaining the business-critical information and ensure that all employees can easily access information as needed.

Recommendation 2 is: Knowledge transfer activities. Leaders should provide employees with time segments from everyday work responsibilities to engage in knowledge transfer activities. Leaders should openly support knowledge transfer needs and practices to promote knowledge transfer activities such as training and job shadowing. Cross training and shadowing are knowledge transfer strategies used to develop careers, enriching succession planning, and retaining business critical information (Gibson, Wallace, & Kreis, 2018). Employment overlap may assist with knowledge transfer activities before an individual leave the organization. Leaders

develop knowledge transfer through meetings and presentations to employees on business critical information. Leaders need to create a relationship of trust with employees to be open to taking in the information and transferring the information to others.

Recommendation 3 is: Leaders involved in knowledge transfer strategies. By having leaders participate in knowledge transfer strategies such as meetings and presentations it openly demonstrates support of knowledge transfer activities.

Management support is critical to sustaining knowledge transfer strategies (Gil-Garcia & Sayogo, 2016). Leaders need to take an active role in knowledge transfer strategies making it a priority to their departments. As leader they are able to lead the way for employees to see to value and needed to transfer knowledge. Leaders are able to create a culture and environment for knowledge transfer that will support the strategies to be successful.

The results of improved knowledge transfer strategies may result in increased organizational productivity by reducing loss of business-critical information when employees transition. Retaining business critical information can be accomplished through successful knowledge transfer strategies being used by all employees. After Walden's approval, I will contact each participant to share with them the Abstract and a one-page summary of my conclusions and recommendations.

### **Recommendations for Further Research**

Through the study findings, I determined that documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and meetings and presentations, are successful knowledge transfer strategies used by leaders in credit unions. As this study was a single credit union case

study, the results may not be generalized to other organizations. I would recommend further research that expands to other business sectors and other organizations types to determine if the finding results are consistent. Future researchers may use results from this study as the basis for additional studies in larger credit unions and financial institutions. My recommendation for future research would be to focus on additional methods for knowledge transfer focusing on how to engage employees to share knowledge. In addition, researchers may choose to research how different generations of employees prefer to obtain and share tacit and explicit knowledge from employees leaving the organization or transitioning into a new role.

#### Reflections

Through my doctoral journey I developed an appreciation of independent scholarship, sacrifice, patience, and perseverance. The doctoral journey armed me with research and scholarly writing skills that I am using in my professional career. A major factor in this doctoral journey was time management, but more importantly staying dedicated to the goal despite the challenges faced each day. At the onset of this study, I had no preconceived thoughts about the possible findings. The participants identified three main knowledge transfer strategies, documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and meetings/presentations. I had concerns about participation and that I would not receive enough participants to reach data saturation. Fortunately, I had fourteen participants freely willing to share their knowledge transfer strategies. I was able to gain an understanding of their experiences of knowledge transfer strategies to retain

business critical information and avoid knowledge loss as employees leave the organization or transition to other positions.

During the study process, I had several revelations. The rigor needed to develop a literature review improved my ability to use sources and summarize concepts to educate others. Second, conducting semistructured interviews and identifying themes based on participant responds was daunting but informative to gaining additional understanding on knowledge transfer strategies being used. The doctorial study process was a humbling experience and I feel a sense of pride and self-reward for being able to manage my demanding career and school workload successfully.

#### Conclusion

American business leaders are challenged to replace 70 million knowledgeable and experienced workers (Green et al., 2017). Seventy-five million baby boomers are leaving organizations, taking knowledge and skills with them, and leaving organizations with the challenge to train new employees (Farrell, 2018). There are 10,000 U.S. baby boomers leaving the workforce daily, and more than 70 million will leave the workforce by 2029 (Anderson & Guo, 2018). A solution to this knowledge gap in talent is to take the needed actions to capture and retaining critical business information of retiring employees prior to them leaving the organizations. The specific business problem and research question provided an avenue to gain an understanding knowledge transfer strategy to retain business critical information that should be implemented by leaders. To learn these strategies, I conducted a qualitative case study on a credit union in East

Lansing, Michigan by conducting semistructured interviews from 14 participants currently implementing knowledge transfer strategies.

The three themes that emerged from the study were documentation, cross-training and job shadowing, and presentations and meetings. Leaders may use these strategies to reduce organizational knowledge loss and increase productivity by having knowledgeable individuals. Increasing leadership support for knowledge transfer activities by providing employees with time to focus on knowledge transfer is a recommended action for leaders to develop knowledge transfer programs that support business continuity. Despite the limitations found, I believe this study adds to the understanding of knowledge transfer strategies used by leaders to retain business critical information. Leaders will need to apply knowledge transfer strategies that will further develop and retain knowledge prior and post employees leaving the organization. Leaders should use strategies to ensure business critical information is retained to ensure organizational stability and competitive growth. The findings provide information on effective knowledge transfer strategies used by leaders.

### References

- Abbariki, M., Snell, R. S., & Easterby-Smith, M. (2017). Sharing or ignoring tacit knowledge? A comparison of collective learning routines at two sites. *Journal of General Management*, 42(4), 57-67. doi:10.1177/0306307017702997
- Abbas, A., Avdic, A., Xiaobao, P., Zhao, S. L., & Chong, R. (2018). Strategic framework of collaboration in knowledge transfer of high-tech industries. *Calitatea, 19*(163), 74-80. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/1c2473439878ace3a5e298df04aac579/1?pq -origsite=gscholar&cbl=1046413
- Acharya, A., & Mishra, B. (2017). Exploring the relationship between organizational structure and knowledge retention: A study of the Indian infrastructure consulting sector. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(4), 961-985. doi:10.1108/JKM-11-2016-0506
- Afshari, L., & Gibson, P. (2016). How to increase organizational commitment through transactional leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *37*(4), 507-519. doi:10.1108/LODJ-08-2014-0148
- Akturan, A., & Çekmecelioğlu, H. G. (2016). The effects of knowledge sharing and organizational citizenship behaviors on creative behaviors in educational institutions. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 235, 342-350. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.11.042
- Akhavan, P., & Hosseini, S. M. (2015). Determinants of knowledge sharing in knowledge networks: A social capital perspective. *IUP Journal of Knowledge*

- Management, 13(1), 7. Retrieved from https://ssrn.com/abstract=2661336
- Alas, R., & Mousa, M. (2016). Organizational culture and workplace spirituality. *International Journal of Emerging Research in Management and Technology, 5*(3), 285-314. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mohamed\_Mousa14/publication/303947064

  \_Organizational\_Culture\_and\_Workplace\_Spirituality/links/575ff41508aed88462

  1d9ece/Organizational-Culture-and-Workplace-Spirituality.pdf
- Al-Arimi, A. A. A. A., Masrom, M., & Mahmood, N. H. N. (2017, October). Knowledge management infrastructure capabilities, knowledge management process capabilities and organizational performance relationship structural equation model. In e-PROCEEDINGS (p. 83). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Waiphot

  \_Kulachai/publication/323963993\_Exploratory\_factor\_analysis\_of\_sufficiency\_e conomy\_for\_Thai\_small\_industries/links/5ab5057c0f7e9b68ef4be4fc/Exploratory -factor-analysis-of-sufficiency-economy-for-Thai-small-industries.pdf#page=83
- Al Saifi, S. A. (2015). Positioning organisational culture in knowledge management research. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *19*(2), 164-189. doi:10.1108/JKM-07-2014-0287
- Alsam, U., Rehman, C. A., & Imran, M. K. (2016). Intelligence and managerial performance: An interactive role of knowledge sharing culture. *Pakistan Business Review*, *18*(3), 598-617. doi:10.22555/pbr.v18i3.934

- Altinay, L., Madanoglu, M., De Vita, G., Arasli, H., & Ekinci, Y. (2016). The interface between organizational learning capability, entrepreneurial orientation, and SME growth. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *54*(3), 871-891. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12219
- Ansari, A. H., & Malik, S. (2017). Ability-based emotional intelligence and knowledge sharing. *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*. doi:10.1108/VJIKMS-09-2016-0050
- Anderson, L. B., & Guo, S. J. (2018). The changing face of retirement: Exploring retirees' communicative construction of tensions through bridge employment. *Communication Studies*, 69(2), 196-212. doi:10.1080/10510974.2018.1437056
- Ang, C.K., Embi, M.A., & Yunus, M.M. (2016). Enhancing the quality of the findings of a longitudinal case study: Reviewing trustworthiness via ATLAS.ti. *The Qualitative Report, 21*(10). Available from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Areekkuzhiyil, S. (2016). Organizational culture as determinant of knowledge sharing practices of teachers working in higher education sector. *Online Submission*, 1(26), 24-30. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED568388.pdf
- Argote, L., & Fahrenkopf, E. (2016). Knowledge transfer in organizations: The roles of members, tasks, tools, and networks. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 136, 146-159. doi:10.1016/j.obhdp.2016.08.003

- Astrauskaite, M., Notelaers, G., Medisauskaite, A., & Kern, R. M. (2015). Workplace harassment: Deterring role of transformational leadership and core job characteristics. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, *31*(1), 121-135. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2014.06.001
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: Perceptual foundations. *International Journal of Market Research*, *57*(6), 837-854. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Bartsch, V., Ebers, M., & Maurer, I. (2013). Learning in project-based organizations: The role of project teams' social capital for overcoming barriers to learning.

  \*International Journal of Project Management, 31, 239-251.\*

  doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2012.06.009
- Basu, R. (2014). Managing quality in projects: An empirical study. *International Journal of Project Management*, 32(1), 178–187. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.02.003
- Battistelli, A., Odoardi, C., Vandenberghe, C., Di Napoli, G., & Piccione, L. (2019).

  Information sharing and innovative work behavior: The role of work-based learning, challenging tasks, and organizational commitment. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 30(3), 361-381. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21344
- Beauregard, T. A., Basile, K. A., & Thompson, C. A. (2018). Organizational culture in the context of national culture. Retrieved from https://eprints.mdx.ac.uk/id/eprint/24020
- Belgrave, L. L., & Seide, K. (2018). Grounded Theory Methodology: Principles and Practices. *Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences*, 1-18.

- doi:10.1007/978-981-10-2779-6 84-1
- Benlabsir, S., Koubaa, S., & Benchrifa, H. (2018, March). Knowledge management and innovation: A literature review. In 6th International Conference on Innovation and Entrepreneurship: ICIE 2018 (p. 469). *Academic Conferences and publishing limited*.
- Bernard, B. (2017). Assessing the risk of K-loss within CoPs: The knowledge critical grid model applied within the Belgian TSO. *International Journal of Nuclear Knowledge Management*, 7(1), 25-36. doi:10.1504/IJNKM.2017.084126
- Berson, Y., Da'as, R., & Waldman, D. A. (2015). How do leaders and their teams bring about organizational learning and outcomes?. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 79-108. doi:10.1111/peps.12071
- Bilgihan, A., Barreda, A., Okumus, F., & Nusair, K. (2016). Consumer perception of knowledge-sharing in travel-related online social networks. *Tourism Management*, 52, 287-296. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.07.002
- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A., Hetland, J., Demerouti, E., Olsen, O. K., & Espevik, R. (2014). Daily transactional and transformational leadership and daily employee engagement. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 87, 138-157. doi:10.1111/joop.12041
- Bradshaw, R., Chebbi, M., & Oztel, H. (2015). Leadership and knowledge sharing. *Asian Journal of Business Research ISSN*, 1178(8933). doi:10.14707/ajbr.150001

- Bratianu, C. (2015). Organizational knowledge dynamics: Managing knowledge creation, acquisition, sharing, and transformation. Hershey, PA: IGI Global. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-8318-1.ch011
- Büke, B., Araz, Ö. M., & Fowler, J. W. (2016). Cross-Training with imperfect training schemes. *Production and Operations Management*, *25*(7), 1216-1231. doi:10.1111/poms.12543
- Bulitia, G., Wanjala, J. W., & Mwangi, G. W. (2018). Knowledge management as a tool for employee retention in Saccos. Retrieved from http://repository.mut.ac.ke:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/3017/Bulitia\_Knowledge%20Management%20As% 20A%20Tool%20For%20Employee%20Retention.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Burmeister, A. & Deller, J. (2016). Knowledge retention from older and retiring workers:

  What do we know, and where do we go from here? *Work, Aging and Retirement, 2(2), 87-104.* doi:10.1093/workar/waw002
- Cao, Z., Huo, B., Li, Y., & Zhao, X. (2015). The impact of organizational culture on supply chain integration: a contingency and configuration approach. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 20(1), 24-41. doi:10.1108/SCM-11-2013-0426
- Cao, Y., & Xiang, Y. (2012). The impact of knowledge governance on knowledge sharing. *Management Decision*, 50(4), 591-610.

  doi:10.1108/00251741211220147
- Carmeli, A., Gelbard, R., & Reiter-Palmon, R. (2013). Leadership, creative problem-

- solving capacity, and creative performance: The importance of knowledge sharing. *Human Resource Management*, *52*, 95-121. doi:10.1002/hrm.21514
- Carpio Vázquez, E. P., & Lysenko, E. (2017). Succession planning as a business process of talent-management. Стратегии развития социальных общностей(Social community development strategies), институтов и территорий(institutions and territories). Т. 1. Екатеринбург(Т. 1. Ekaterinbur), 2017, 1(3), 253-255.

  Retrieved from http://elar.urfu.ru/bitstream/10995/55518/1/978-5-7996-2231-2\_068.pdf
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report, 21*(5), 811-831. Available from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Chadwick, I. C., & Raver, J. L. (2015). Motivating organizations to learn: Goal orientation and its influence on organizational learning. *Journal of Management*, 41(3), 957-986. doi:10.1177/0149206312443558
- Chang, C. L. H., & Lin, T. C. (2015). The role of organizational culture in the knowledge management process. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *19*(3), 433-455. doi:10.1108/JKM-08-2014-0353
- Chatterjee, A., Pereira, A., & Bates, R. (2018). Impact of individual perception of organizational culture on the learning transfer environment. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 22(1), 15-33. doi:10.1111/ijtd.12116
- Childress, J. R. (2013). *Leverage: The CEO's Guide to Corporate Culture*. Principia Associates.

- Chumg, H. F., Seaton, J., Cooke, L., & Ding, W. Y. (2016). Factors affecting employees' knowledge-sharing behaviour in the virtual organisation from the perspectives of well-being and organisational behaviour. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *64*, 432-448. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.011
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2014). The baby boom cohort in the United States: 2012 to 2060. Population estimates and projections, 1-16. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2014/demo/p25-1141.pdf
- Connelly, L.M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25(6), 435-436. Available from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgibin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Cummings, J. A., Zagrodney, J. M., & Day, T. E. (2015). Impact of open data policies on consent to participate in human subjects research: Discrepancies between participant action and reported concerns. *PLOS ONE*, *10*, e0125208. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125208
- Cupiał, M., Szeląg-Sikora, A., Sikora, J., Rorat, J., & Niemiec, M. (2018). Information technology tools in corporate knowledge management. *Ekonomia i Prawo*. *17*(1), 5-15. doi:10.12775/EiP.2018.001.
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision*, *19*(2), 147-160. doi:10.1177/0972262915575661
- Delegach, M., Kark, R., Katz-Navon, T., & Van Dijk, D. (2017). A focus on commitment: the roles of transformational and transactional leadership and self-

- regulatory focus in fostering organizational and safety commitment. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 26*(5), 724-740. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2017.1345884
- Dessie, G. (2017). Knowledge sharing practice and associated factors among health care workers at public hospitals in North Shoa, Amhara. *American Journal of Health Research*, *5*(5), 149-153. doi:10.11648/j.ajhr.20170505.16
- Deverell, A. C., & Burnett, S. (2012). Need-to-know cultures: an investigation into intraorganisational and extra-organisational knowledge sharing cultures in local government in the UK. *Knowledge and Process Management, 19*(3), 131-141. doi:10.1002/kpm.1393
- Donate, M. J., & de Pablo, J. D. S. (2015). The role of knowledge-oriented leadership in knowledge management practices and innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 360-370. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.06.022
- Dong, Y., Bartol, K. M., Zhang, Z. X., & Li, C. (2017). Enhancing employee creativity via individual skill development and team knowledge sharing: Influences of dual-focused transformational leadership. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *38*(3), 439-458. doi:10.1002/job.2134
- Eaton, D., & Kilby, G. (2015). Does your organizational culture support your business strategy? *Journal for Quality and Participation, 37*(4). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search-proquest.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1652619699
  ?accountid=14872

- Edú-Valsania, S., Moriano, J. A., & Molero, F. (2016). Authentic leadership and employee knowledge sharing behavior: Mediation of the innovation climate and workgroup identification. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 37(4), 487-506. doi:10.1108/LODJ-08-2014-0149
- Elrehail, H., Emeagwali, O. L., Alsaad, A., & Alzghoul, A. (2018). The impact of transformational and authentic leadership on innovation in higher education: the contingent role of knowledge sharing. *Telematics and Informatics*, *35*(1), 55-67. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.09.018
- Evans, M., Dalkir, K., & Bidian, C. (2015). A holistic view of the knowledge life cycle:

  The knowledge management cycle (KMC) model. *Leading issues in knowledge management, 2*(2), 47. Retrieved from

  https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1528148807?accountid=14872
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Farid, H., Davaji, J. G., & Barani, G. (2016). The relationship between transformational leadership and knowledge sharing in employees of Golestan University of Medical Sciences. *Research Journal of Management Reviews, 2*(6), 332-335.

  Retrieved from http://www.rjmrjournal.com

- Farrell, W. A. (2018). Learning Becomes Doing: Applying Augmented and Virtual Reality to Improve Performance. *Performance Improvement*, *57*(4), 19-28. doi:10.1002/pfi.21775
- Farrell, C., Walshe, C., & Molassiotis, A. (2017). Are nurse-led chemotherapy clinics really nurse-led? An ethnographic study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 69, 1-8. Retrieved from http://eprints.lancs.ac.uk/84068/1/IJNS\_nurse\_led\_clinic\_ethnography\_ACCEPT ED\_12.1.17.pdf
- Federico, P., Wagner, M., Rind, A., Amor-Amorós, A., Miksch, S., & Aigner, W. (2017).

  The role of explicit knowledge: A conceptual model of knowledge-assisted visual analytics. Retrieved from

  http://mc.fhstp.ac.at/sites/default/files/publications/federico-wagner\_2017\_knava-model.pdf
- Finlay, L. (2014). Engaging phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 121-141. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.807899
- Flynn, M., & Rutherford, W. J. (2018). Strategic SME succession planning: Enhancing value & wealth vis-a-vis organizational diagnosis. *Review of Business and Finance Studies*, *9*(1), 85-94. Retrieved at http://www.theibfr2.com/RePEc/ibf/rbfstu/rbfs-v9n1-2018/RBFS-V9N1-2018-8.pdf

- Gao, J., & Bernard, A. (2018). An overview of knowledge sharing in new product development. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing*Technology, 94(5-8), 1545-1550. doi:10.1007/s00170-017-0140-5
- Ghasabeh, M. S., Soosay, C., & Reaiche, C. (2015). The emerging role of transformational leadership. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 49(6), 459-467. doi:10.1353/jda.2015.0090
- Ghobadi, S., & Mathiassen, L. (2016). Perceived barriers to effective knowledge sharing in agile software teams. *Information Systems Journal*, 26(2), 95-125. doi:10.1111/isj.12053
- Gibson, B., Wallace, C. Y., & Kreis, S. D. (2018). Developing Knowledge Management Strategies. doi:10.13023/ktc.rr.2018.07
- Gil-Garcia, J. R., & Sayogo, D. S. (2016). Government inter-organizational information sharing initiatives: Understanding the main determinants of success. *Government Information Quarterly*, *33*(3), 572-582. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2016.01.006
- Gluesing, J. C. (2015). Cross-Cultural Training. Wiley Encyclopedia of Management, 1-4. doi:10.1002/9781118785317
- Gonzalez, RVD, & Melo, TMD (2018). Innovation through exploration and exploitation of knowledge: An empirical study of the automobile sector. *Management & Production*, 25 (1), 1-15. doi:10.1590/0104-530x3899-17
- Green, D., Roberts, G., & Rudebock, R. (2017). Reshaping the Federal System for a Postmodern Workforce. *Management and Economics Research Journal*, 2(2016). doi:10.18639/MERJ.2016.02.345941

- Greenwood, M. (2016). Approving or improving research ethics in management journals. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 137, 507-520. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-5264-x
- Greer, T. W., & Egan, T. M. (2019). Knowledge Management for Organizational Success: Valuing Diversity and Inclusion Across Stakeholders, Structures, and Sectors. In *Connecting Adult Learning and Knowledge Management* (pp. 119-136). Springer, Cham. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-29872-2
- Gunjal, B. (2019). Knowledge management: why do we need it for corporates. *Malaysian Journal of Library & Information Science*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3375573
- Hamstra, M. R., Van Yperen, N. W., Wisse, B., & Sassenberg, K. (2014).
   Transformational and transactional leadership and followers' achievement goals.
   Journal of Business and Psychology, 29, 413-425.
   doi:10.1007/s10869-013-9322-9
- Han, S. H., Seo, G., Yoon, S. W., & Yoon, D. Y. (2016). Transformational leadership and knowledge sharing: Mediating roles of employee's empowerment, commitment, and citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 28(3), 130-149. doi:10.1108/JWL-09-2015-0066
- Harris, S. G. (2017, December). A schema-based perspective on organizational culture.
   In academy of management proceedings. *Academy of Management Briarcliff* Manor, NY 10510. doi:10.5465/ambpp.1989.4980749
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017, January). Case study research: foundations and methodological orientations. In *Forum Qualitative*Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Vol. 18, No. 1). Retrieved

- from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/viewFile/2655/4080
- Hatak, I. R., & Roessl, D. (2015). Relational competence-based knowledge transfer within intrafamily succession: An experimental study. *Family Business Review*, 28(1), 10-25. doi:10.1177/0894486513480386
- Howard, R. D. (2017). Does the information systems curriculum meet business needs:

  Case study of a Southeastern college (Order No. 10254945). Available from

  ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1870373832). Retrieved from

  http://gradworks.umi.com
- Hussein, A. T. T., Singh, S. K., Farouk, S., & Sohal, A. S. (2016). Knowledge sharing enablers, processes and firm innovation capability. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 28(8), 484-495. doi:10.1108/JWL-05-2016-0041
- Imran, M. K., Ilyas, M., Aslam, U., & Fatima, T. (2018). Knowledge processes and firm performance: The mediating effect of employee creativity. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, (just-accepted), 512-531. doi:10.1108/JOCM-10-2016-0202
- Islam, M. Z., Jasimuddin, S. M., & Hasan, I. (2015). Organizational culture, structure, technology infrastructure and knowledge sharing: Empirical evidence from MNCs based in Malaysia. *Vine*, *45*(1), 67-88. doi:10.1108/VINE-05-2014-0037
- Jabeen, F., Behery, M., & Abu Elanain, H. (2015). Examining the relationship between the psychological contract and organisational commitment: The mediating effect

- of transactional leadership in the UAE context. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 23(1), 102-122. doi:10.1108/IJOA-10-2014-0812
- Jackson, C., Vaughan, D. R., & Brown, L. (2018). Discovering lived experiences through descriptive phenomenology. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(11), 3309-3325. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-10-2017-0707
- Jain, A. K., & Moreno, A. (2015). Organizational learning, knowledge management practices and firm's performance: An empirical study of a heavy engineering firm in India. *The Learning Organization*, 22(1), 14-39. doi:10.1108/TLO-05-2013-0024
- Janus, S. S. (2016). Becoming a knowledge-sharing organization: A handbook for scaling up solutions through knowledge capturing and sharing. World Bank Publications. doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-0943-9
- Jiang, X., Flores, H. R., Leelawong, R., & Manz, C. C. (2016). The effect of team empowerment on team performance: A cross-cultural perspective on the mediating roles of knowledge sharing and intra-group conflict. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 27(1), 62-87. doi:10.1108/IJCMA-07-2014-0048
- Jin-Feng, W., Ming-Yan, C., Li-Jie, F., & Jun-Ju, Y. (2017). The construction of enterprise tacit knowledge sharing stimulation system oriented to employee individual. *Procedia Engineering*, 174, 289-300. doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2017.01.139

- Johnson, R., Grove, A., & Clarke, A. (2018). It's hard to play ball: A qualitative study of knowledge exchange and silo effects in public health. *BMC health services*research, 18(1), 1. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2770-6
- Johnson, R. D., Pepper, D., Adkins, J., & Emejom, A. A. (2018). Succession planning for large and small organizations: A practical review of professional business corporations. *In Succession Planning*. 23-40. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-72532-1 3
- Kaihongani, K. L., Shukla, J., Zenon, M., & Mbabazize, M. (2016). Assessment of managerial succession planning on projects performance in Rwanda: A case study of humanitarian food initiative project. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, 5(01), 294-320. Retrieved at http://www.ejbss.com/recent.aspx-/
- Karamitri, I., Talias, M. A., & Bellali, T. (2017). Knowledge management practices in healthcare settings: a systematic review. The International journal of health planning and management, 32(1), 4-18. doi:10.1002/hpm.2303
- Kariuki, S. N., & Ochiri, G. (2017). Strategic succession planning strategies on organizational productivity: A case of Githunguri dairy cooperative society. *International Academic Journal of Human Resource and Business Administration*, 2(3), 179-200. Retrieved from http://www.iajournals.org/articles/iajhrba\_v2\_i3\_179\_200.pdf
- Kaur, H. (2015). Knowledge creation and the seci model. *International Journal of Business Management*, 2(1), 833-839. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ijbm.co.in/downloads/vol2-issue1/51.pdf">http://www.ijbm.co.in/downloads/vol2-issue1/51.pdf</a>

- Khvatova, T., Block, M., Zhukov, D., & Lesko, S. (2016). How to measure trust: The percolation model applied to intra-organisational knowledge sharing networks. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 20(5), 918-935. doi:10.1108/JKM-11-2015-0464
- Kianto, A., Vanhala, M., & Heilmann, P. (2016). The impact of knowledge management on job satisfaction. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 20(4), 621-636. doi:10.1108/JKM-10-2015-0398
- Koohang, A., Paliszkiewicz, J., & Goluchowski, J. (2017). The impact of leadership on trust, knowledge management, and organizational performance: A research model. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(3), 521-537. doi:10.1108/IMDS-02-2016-0072
- Körner, M., Wirtz, M. A., Bengel, J., & Göritz, A. S. (2015). Relationship of organizational culture, teamwork and job satisfaction in interprofessional teams. *BMC health services research*, *15*(1), 243. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0888-y
- Kotamarty, B. K. (2017). A study on awareness and process of knowledge management in select service and manufacturing sectors in India. Retrieved from http://ir.inflibnet.ac.in:8080/jspui/bitstream/10603/186040/13/13 publications.pdf
- Krylova, K. O., Vera, D., & Crossan, M. (2016). Knowledge transfer in knowledge-intensive organizations: The crucial role of improvisation in transferring and protecting knowledge. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 20, 1045-1064. doi:10.1108/JKM-10-2015-0385

- Kucharska, W., & Kowalczyk, R. (2016). Trust, collaborative culture and tacit knowledge sharing in project management—A relationship model. ICICKM, 159-166. Retrieved from
  - https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Wioleta\_Kucharska3/publication/309284422
    \_Trust\_Collaborative\_Culture\_and\_Tacit\_Knowledge\_Sharing\_in\_Project\_Mana
    gement a Relationship Model/links/580794ab08ae07cbaa54301f.pdf
- Lai, J., Lui, S. S., & Tsang, E. W. (2016). Intrafirm knowledge transfer and employee innovative behavior: The role of total and balanced knowledge flows. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 33(1), 90-103. doi:10.1111/jpim.12262
- Le, P. B., & Lei, H. (2018). The mediating role of trust in stimulating the relationship between transformational leadership and knowledge sharing processes. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. doi:10.1108/JKM-10-2016-0463
- Lee, J., Lee, H., & Park, J. G. (2014). Exploring the impact of empowering leadership on knowledge sharing, absorptive capacity and team performance in IT service. *Information Technology & People*, 27, 366-386. doi:10.1108/ITP-10-2012-0115
- Lee, K. J. (2016). Sense of calling and career satisfaction of hotel frontline employees:

  Mediation through knowledge sharing with organizational members. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(2), 346-365.

  doi:10.1108/IJCHM-01-2014-0026
- Leedy, P.D. & Ormrod, J. E. (2013) *Practical research: Planning and design* (9th ed).

  NYC: Merril. Retrieved from https://web-b-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=5c38e466-a59f-4f69-

- ad32-fe3eee1ca879%40pdc-v-sessmgr05&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#AN=78436391&db=bth
- Levallet, N., & Chan, Y. E. (2019). Organizational knowledge retention and knowledge loss. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. *23*(1), 176-199. doi:10.1108/JKM-08-2017-0358
- Leyer, M., Schneider, C., & Claus, N. (2016). Would you like to know who knows?

  Connecting employees based on process-oriented knowledge mapping. *Decision Support Systems*, 87, 94-104. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2016.05.003
- Lin, T. C., Chang, C. L. H., & Tsai, W. C. (2016). The influences of knowledge loss and knowledge retention mechanisms on the absorptive capacity and performance of a MIS department. *Management Decision*, *54*, 1757-1787.
  doi:10.1108/MD-02-2016-0117
- Lin, C., Wu, J. C., & Yen, D. C. (2012). Exploring barriers to knowledge flow at different knowledge management maturity stages. *Information & Management,* 49(1), 10-23. doi:10.1016/j.im.2011.11.001
- Llopis, O., & Foss, N. J. (2016). Understanding the climate–knowledge sharing relation:

  The moderating roles of intrinsic motivation and job autonomy. *European Management Journal*, *34*(2), 135-144. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2015.11.009
- Loebbecke, C., van Fenema, P. C., & Powell, P. (2016). Managing inter-organizational knowledge sharing. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, *25*(1), 4-14. doi:10.1016/j.jsis.2015.12.002

- Lub, V. (2015). Validity in qualitative evaluation: Linking purposes, paradigms, and perspectives. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14, 1-8. doi:10.1177/1609406915621406
- Lukic, T., Džamic, V., Knezevic, G., Alčaković, S., & Bošković, V. (2014). The influence of organizational culture on business creativity, innovation and satisfaction. Management: *Journal of Sustainable Business and Management Solutions in Emerging Economies*, 19(73), 49-57.

  doi:10.7595/management.fon.2014.0027
- Mader, A., Mader, O. M., Groener, D., Korkusuz, Y., Ahmad, S., Gruenwald, F., &
  Happel, C. (2017). Minimally invasive local ablative therapies in combination with radioiodine therapy in benign thyroid disease: preparation, feasibility and efficiency–preliminary results. International Journal of Hyperthermia, 33, 895-904. doi:10.1080/02656736.2017.1320813
- Malarz, K., & Paradowski, K. (2018). Model of knowledge transfer within an organisation. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*, 21(2). doi:10.18564/jasss.3659
- Marques, J. M. R., La Falce, J. L., Marques, F. M. F. R., De Muylder, C. F., & Silva, J. T. M. (2019). The relationship between organizational commitment, knowledge

- transfer and knowledge management maturity. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. doi:10.1108/JKM-03-2018-0199
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research (6th ed.*).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Martinez, E. A., Beaulieu, N., Gibbons, R., Pronovost, P., & Wang, T. (2015).

  Organizational culture and performance. *The American Economic Review*, 105, 331-335. doi:10.1257/aer.p20151001
- Martins, L. L., Rindova, V. P., & Greenbaum, B. E. (2015). Unlocking the hidden value of concepts: A cognitive approach to business model innovation. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, *9*(1), 99-117. doi:10.1002/sej.1191
- Masa'deh, R., Obeidat, B., Zyod, D., and Gharaibeh, A. (2015). The associations among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, knowledge sharing, job performance, and firm performance: A theoretical model. *Journal of Social Sciences (COES&RJ-JSS)*, 4, 848-866. doi:10.25255/jss.2015.4.2.848.866
- Masa'deh, R. E., Obeidat, B. Y., & Tarhini, A. (2016). A Jordanian empirical study of the associations among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, knowledge sharing, job performance, and firm performance: A structural equation modelling approach. *Journal of Management Development*, 35, 681-705.
  doi:10.1108/JMD-09-2015-0134
- Massaro, M., Moro, A., Aschauer, E., & Fink, M. (2019). Trust, control and knowledge transfer in small business networks. Review of Managerial Science, 13(2), 267-301. doi:10.1007/s11846-017-0247-y

- Massingham, P. R. (2018). Measuring the impact of knowledge loss: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. doi:10.1108/JKM-08-2016-0338
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- Merchant, P., Kumar, A., & Mallik, D. (2017). The role of quality of relations in succession planning of family businesses in India. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, *4*(3), 45-56. doi:10.13106/jafeb.2017.vol4.no3.45
- Mezghani, E., Exposito, E., & Drira, K. (2016). A collaborative methodology for tacit knowledge management: Application to scientific research. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, *54*, 450-455. doi:10.1016/j.future.2015.05.007
- Mikesell, L., Bromley, E., & Khodyakov, D. (2013). Ethical community-engaged research: a literature review. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(12), e7-e14. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301605
- Mueller, J. (2014). A specific knowledge culture: Cultural antecedents for knowledge sharing between project teams. *European Management Journal*, *32*, 190-202. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2013.05.006
- Muñoz-Pascual, L., Galende, J., & Curado, C. (2020). Human Resource Management
  Contributions to Knowledge Sharing for a Sustainability-Oriented Performance:
  A Mixed Methods Approach. Sustainability, 12(1), 161. doi:10.3390/su12010161
- Muqadas, F., Rehman, M., Aslam, U., & Ur-Rahman, U. (2017). Exploring the challenges, trends and issues for knowledge sharing: A study on employees in

- public sector universities. *Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, 47(1), 2-15. doi:10.1108/VJIKMS-06-2016-0036
- Nakauchi, M., Washburn, M., & Klein, K. (2017). Differences between inter-and intragroup dynamics in knowledge transfer processes. *Management Decision*, *55*(4), 766-782. doi:10.1108/MD-08-2016-0537
- Navidi, F., Hassanzadeh, M., & Zolghadr Shojai, A. (2017). Organizational knowledge documentation in project-based institutes: A case study at the satellite research institute. *The Electronic Library*, *35*, 994-1012. doi:10.1108/EL-10-2015-0196
- Nikpour, A. (2017). The impact of organizational culture on organizational performance:

  The mediating role of employee's organizational commitment. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, *6*, 65-72. Retrieved from https://ijol.cikd.ca/article 60432 9a9a6611a397719a068702bb17be5460.pdf
- Nonaka, I. (2012). Dynamic organizational capabilities: Distributed leadership and fractal organization. In strategic management of military capabilities: Seeking ways to foster military innovation. NIDS international symposium on security affairs.

  \*Tokyo: The National Institute for Defense Studies.\* Retrieved from http://www.nids.go.jp/english/event/symposium/pdf/2012/E-01.
- Nonaka, I., Byosiere, P., Borucki, C. C., & Konno, N. (1994). Organizational knowledge creation theory: A first comprehensive test. *International Business Review, 3*(4), 337-351. Retrieved from https://ai.wu.ac.at/~kaiser/birgit/Nonaka-Papers-Alfred/IBR%20Nonaka.pdf
- Nonaka, I., Takeuchi, H. (1995). The knowledge-creating company: How Japanese

- companies create the dynamics of innovation. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- North, K., & Kumta, G. (2018). Context Specific Knowledge Management Strategies.

  In Knowledge Management (pp. 201-242). Springer, Cham.

  doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59978-6\_6
- Obeidat, B. Y., Abdallah, A. B., Aqqad, N. O., Akhoershiedah, A. H. O. M., & Maqableh, M. (2016). The effect of intellectual capital on organizational performance: The mediating role of knowledge sharing. *Communications and Network*, *9*(1), 1-27. doi:10.4236/cn.2017.91001
- Obeidat, B. Y., Al-Dmour, R. H., & Tarhini, A. (2015). Knowledge management strategies as intermediary variables between IT business strategic alignment and firm performance. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ, 11*(7). Retrieved from https://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/view/5326/5152
- Obeidat, B. Y., Zyod, D. S., & Gharaibeh, A. A. H. (2015). The associations among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, knowledge sharing, job performance, and firm performance: A theoretical model. *Journal of Social Sciences (COES&RJ-JSS)*, 4, 848-866. doi:10.25255/jss.2015.4.2.848.866
- O'Connor, T., & Byrne, J. (2015). Governance and the corporate life-cycle. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 11(1), 23-43. doi:10.1108/IJMF-03-2013-0033
- Omotayo, F. O. (2015). Knowledge Management as an important tool in Organisational

  Management: A Review of Literature. Retrieved from

  http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/1238

- Pathiranage, J. (2019). Organizational culture and business performance: an empirical study. *International Journal of Economics and Management*, *24*(2), 264-278. doi:10.14445/23939125/LJEMS-V616P101
- Patidar, N., Gupta, S., Azbik, G., & Weech-Maldonado, R. (2016). Succession planning and financial performance: Does competition matter? *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 61(3), 215-227. Retrieved from https://web-a-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=650b72ad-4395-49d6-aff3-83d68710c682%40sessionmgr4010
- Parboteeah, P., Jackson, T., & Wilkinson, N. (2016). A theoretically grounded model to reduce the risk of knowledge loss in organisations: An energy company evaluation. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 23(3), 171-183. doi:10.1002/kpm.1502
- Pee, L. G., & Kankanhalli, A. (2016). Interactions among factors influencing knowledge management in public-sector organizations: A resource-based view. *Government Information Quarterly*, *33*(1), 188-199. Retrieved from https://dr.ntu.edu.sg/bitstream/10220/42764/1/Interactions%20among%20factors %20influencing%20knowledge%20management%20in%20public-sector%20organizations.pdf
- Pluye, P., & Hong, Q. N. (2014). Combining the power of stories and the power of numbers: Mixed methods research and mixed studies reviews. *Public Health*, *35*, 29-45. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182440

- Prestia, A. S., Dyess, S. M., & Sherman, R. O. (2014). Planting seeds of succession. *Nursing management*, *45*(3), 30-37. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Rose\_Sherman/publication/260382117\_Plan ting\_seeds\_of\_succession/links/59e60a320f7e9b0e1ab2688f/Planting-seeds-of-succession.pdf
- Rahim, R. A., Mahmood, N. H. N., & Masrom, M. (2017, October). Integrating knowledge management practices and innovation to increase SMRs performance:

  A conceptual paper. In e-PROCEEDINGS (p. 90). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Waiphot\_Kulachai/publication/323963993\_

  Exploratory\_factor\_analysis\_of\_sufficiency\_economy\_for\_Thai\_small\_industries /links/5ab5057c0f7e9b68ef4be4fc/Exploratory-factor-analysis-of-sufficiency-economy-for-Thai-small-industries.pdf#page=90
- Rahman, M. H., Moonesar, I. A., Hossain, M. M., & Islam, M. Z. (2018). Influence of organizational culture on knowledge transfer: Evidence from the government of Dubai. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 18(1). doi:10.1002/pa.1696
- Ramadani, V., Bexheti, A., Rexhepi, G., Ratten, V., & Ibraimi, S. (2017). Succession issues in Albanian family businesses: Exploratory research. *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 19(3), 294-312. doi:10.1080/19448953.2017.1277086
- Ramos Cerdas, A. (2018). Knowledge management in the process of teaching for higher education institutions. 7(2), 31-43. doi:0.15332/s2145-1389.2015.0002.02

- Rana, S., Ardichvili, A., & Polesello, D. (2016). Promoting self-directed learning in a learning organization: Tools and practices. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(7), 470-489. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0076
- Raudeliūnienė, J., Meidutė-Kavaliauskienė, I., & Vileikis, K. (2016). Evaluation of factors determining the efficiency of knowledge sharing process in the Lithuanian national defense system. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 7(4), 842-857. doi:10.1007/s13132-015-0257-4
- Rawung, F. H., Wuryaningrat, N. F., & Elvinita, L. E. (2015). The influence of transformational and transactional leadership on knowledge sharing: an empirical study on small and medium businesses in Indonesia. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 20(1). Retrieved from http://web.usm.my/aamj/20012015/Art%206%20(123-145).pdf
- Razmerita, L., Kirchner, K., & Nielsen, P. (2016). What factors influence knowledge sharing in organizations? A social dilemma perspective of social media communication. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 20, 1225-1246. doi:10.1108/JKM-03-2016-0112
- Rezaeian, A., & Bagheri, R. (2018). Modeling the factors that affect the implementation of knowledge networks. *Foresight and STI Governance*, *12*(1), 56-67. doi:10.17323/2500-2597.2018.1.56.67
- Richardson, N. D. (2014). *Predictors of nonprofit executive succession planning: A*secondary data analysis (Doctoral dissertation, Capella University). Retrieved from

- $https://search.proquest.com/openview/25c58e61674d47cfd1457a0e40ef0103/1?pq\\ -origsite=gscholar\&cbl=18750\&diss=y$
- Rigby, P. C., Zhu, Y. C., Donadelli, S. M., & Mockus, A. (2016, May). Quantifying and mitigating turnover-induced knowledge loss: Case studies of chrome and a project at Avaya. In Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Software Engineering (pp. 1006-1016). ACM. doi:10.1145/2884781.2884851
- Rovai, P. A., Baker, D. J., & Ponton, K. M. (2013). Social science research design and statistics: A practitioner's guide to research methods and IBM SPSS analysis.

  Chesapeake, VA: Watertree Press LLC.
- Roy, S., & Mitra, J. (2018). Tacit and explicit knowledge management and assessment of quality performance of public R&D in emerging economies: An Indian perspective. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 31(1), 188-214. doi:10.1108/JOCM-06-2017-0236
- Runhaar, P., & Sanders, K. (2016). Promoting teachers' knowledge sharing. The fostering roles of occupational self-efficacy and human resources management. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 44*(5), 794-813. doi:10.1177/1741143214564773
- Rutten, W., Blaas-Franken, J., & Martin, H. (2016). The impact of (low) trust on knowledge sharing. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 20(2), 199-214. doi:10.1108/JKM-10-2015-0391

- Saadat, V., & Saadat, Z. (2016). Organizational learning as a key role of organizational success. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *230*, 219-225. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.09.028
- Salajeghe, S., Mehdizadeh, S., & Nazeri, M. (2018). Investigating the relationship between personnel knowledge management maturity and instructional services' quality of Islamic Azad University of Kerman. *Journal of Industrial Strategic Management*, 2(2), 100-108. Retrieved from http://mgmt.iaufb.ac.ir/article\_60288\_a291dcf357a1dc540ec46877b2 401196.pdf
- Saleem, H. (2015). The impact of leadership styles on job satisfaction and mediating role of perceived organizational politics. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral*Sciences, 172, 563-569. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.403
- Sankowska, A. (2016). Trust, knowledge creation and mediating effects of knowledge transfer processes. *Journal of Economics & Management*, 23, 33. Retrieved from http://cejsh.icm.edu.pl/cejsh/element/bwmeta1.element.cejsh-87878799-516c-4594-ad10-444f2d44e6c2/c/03.pdf
- Sathitsemakul, C., & Calabrese, F. (2017). The influence of emotional intelligence on employees' knowledge sharing attitude: The case of a commercial bank in Thailand. *Journal of Integrated Design and Process Science*, *21*(1), 81-98. doi:10.3233/jid-2017-0007
- Serrat, O. (2017). *Knowledge solutions: Tools, methods, and approaches to drive organizational performance* (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). (pp. 355-358). Springer, Singapore.

- doi:10.1007/978-981-10-0983-9\_40
- Sharma, S., & Nair, M. (2018). Analyzing the efficacy of transformational and transactional leadership styles on employee performance (with special reference of small and medium enterprise of Jaipur City). *NOLEGEIN-Journal of Management Information Systems*, 12-22. Retrieved from http://mbajournals.in/index.php/JoMIS/article/view/127
- Sheehan, M., Garavan, T. N., & Morley, M. J. (2020). Transformational leadership and work unit innovation: A dyadic two-wave investigation. *Journal of Business*\*Research, 109, 399-412. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.10.072
- Sheng, M. L., Chang, S. Y., Teo, T., & Lin, Y. F. (2013). Knowledge barriers, knowledge transfer, and innovation competitive advantage in healthcare settings.Management Decision, 51, 461-478. doi:10.1108/00251741311309607
- Sheng, M. L., & Chien, I. (2016). Rethinking organizational learning orientation on radical and incremental innovation in high-tech firms. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 2302-2308. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.046
- Shepperd, M., Bowes, D., & Hall, T. (2017). Researcher bias: The use of machine learning in software defect prediction. *IEEE Transactions on Software*Engineering, 44, 1129-1131. doi:10.1109/TSE.2017.2731308
- Sibbald, S. L., Wathen, C. N., & Kothari, A. (2017). Managing knowledge in transitions: Experiences of health care leaders in succession planning. *The Health Care Manager*, *36*(3), 231-237. doi:10.1097/HCM.00000000000000167

- Skottun, B., & Skoyles, J. (2014). Subjective criteria and illusions in visual testing: Some methodological limitations. *Psychological Research*, 78, 136-140. doi:10.1007/s00426-013-0482-z
- Solli-Saether, H., Karlsen, J. T., & van Oorschot, K. (2015). Strategic and cultural misalignment: Knowledge sharing barriers in project networks. *Project Management Journal*, *46*(3), 49-60. doi:10.1002/pmj.21501
- Starbuck, W. H. (2017). Organizational learning and unlearning. *The Learning Organization*, 24(1), 30-38. doi:10.1108/TLO-11-2016-0073
- Stewart, D. A. (2016). Human capital management—The need for succession planning.

  Retrieved from
  - http://secure.amcto.com/imis15/Documents/Education%20and%20Professional% 20
  - Development/Research%20Papers/Human%20Capital%20Management%20-%20The%20Need%20for%20Succession%20Planning%20AMCTO%20HR%20 Report By%20David%20A%20Stewart.pdf
- Sumbal, M. S., Tsui, E., See-to, E., & Barendrecht, A. (2017). Knowledge retention and aging workforce in the oil and gas industry: A multi perspective study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(4), 907-924. doi:10.1108/JKM-07-2016-0281
- Tamayo-Torres, I., Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, L. J., Llorens-Montes, F. J., & Martínez-López,
  F. J. (2016). Organizational learning and innovation as sources of strategic
  fit. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 116, 1445-1467.
  doi:10.1108/IMDS-12- 2015-0518

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and Delimitations in The Research Process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. doi:10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*(1), 23-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Tjakraatmadja, J. H., Ghazali, A., Putranto, N. A. R., Pringgabayu, D., & Badriyah, M. J. K. (2017). Accelerating the achievement of strategic plan through km scorecard. In e-Proceedings, 66. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Waiphot\_Kulachai/publication/323963993\_ Exploratory\_factor\_analysis\_of\_sufficiency\_economy\_for\_Thai\_small\_industries /links/5ab5057c0f7e9b68ef4be4fc/Exploratory-factor-analysis-of-sufficiency-economy-for-Thai-small-industries.pdf#page=74
- Tong, C., Tak, W. I. W., & Wong, A. (2015). The impact of knowledge sharing on the relationship between organizational culture and job satisfaction: The perception of information communication and technology (ICT) practitioners in Hong Kong.
  International Journal of Human Resource Studies, 5(1), 19.
  doi:10.5296/ijhrs.v5i1.6895
- Tsui, A., & Proctor, J. (2017). How are companies taking an innovative approach to succession planning? Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/student/147

- Tuan, L. T. (2016). How servant leadership nurtures knowledge sharing: The mediating role of public service motivation. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 29(1), 91-108. doi:10.1108/IJPSM-06-2015-0112
- Tufail, M. S., Ismail, H., & Zahra, S. (2016). The impact of work social support on firm innovation capability: The meditational role of knowledge sharing process and job satisfaction and moderating role of organizational trust. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, *36*(2). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0487/dbd6ae
  055791f9591aaf9e7805dc01d9b240.pdf
- Tyrrell, S. (2016). From passenger to pilot–taking the lead and building a business critical information management strategy. *Business Information Review*, *33*, 155-162. doi:10.1177/0266382116663542
- Ugolini, F., Massetti, L., Sanesi, G., & Pearlmutter, D. (2015). Knowledge transfer between stakeholders in the field of urban forestry and green infrastructure:

  Results of a European survey. *Land Use Policy*, 49, 365-381.

  doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.08.019
- Unger, B. N., Rank, J., & Gemünden, H. G. (2014). Corporate innovation culture and dimensions of project portfolio success: The moderating role of national culture. *Project Management Journal*, 45(6), 38-57. doi:10.1002/pmj.21458
- Vahlne, J. E., & Johanson, J. (2017). The internationalization process of the firm—a model of knowledge development and increasing foreign market commitments.

- In International Business (pp. 145-154). Routledge. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8490676.pdf
- Vij, S., & Farooq, R. (2014). Knowledge Sharing Orientation and Its Relationship with Business Performance: A Structural Equation Modeling Approach. *IUP Journal of Knowledge Management*, *12*(3). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sandeep\_Vij/ publication/298215607\_Knowledge\_Sharing\_Orientation\_and\_its\_Relationship\_ with\_Business\_Performance\_A\_Structural\_Equation\_Modeling\_Approach/links/ 56e749c208ae438aab881ec0/Knowledge-Sharing-Orientation-and-its-Relationship-with-Business-Performance-A-Structural-Equation-Modeling-Approach.pdf
- Wang, M. H., & Yang, T. Y. (2016). Investigating the success of knowledge management: An empirical study of small-and medium-sized enterprises. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 21(2), 79-91. doi:10.1016/j.apmrv.2015.12.003
- Warrick, D. D. (2017). What leaders need to know about organizational culture. Business Horizons, 60(3), 395-404. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2017.01.011
- Webb, T., Diamond-Wells, T., & Jeffs, D. (2017). Career mapping for professional development and succession planning. *Journal for nurses in professional development*, 33(1), 25-32. doi:10.1097/NND.0000000000000317
- Wipawayangkool, K., & Teng, J. T. (2016). Paths to tacit knowledge sharing: knowledge internalization and individual-task-technology fit. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, *14*(3), 309-318. doi:10.1057/kmrp.2014.33

- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Williams Tarver, B. A., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow,
  L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research
  data in law and practice. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 43*, 594-609.
  Retrieved from https://www.aslme.org/Publications
- Wong, S. & Cooper, P. (2016). Reliability and validity of the explanatory sequential design of mixed methods adopted to explore the influences on online learning in Hong Kong bilingual cyber higher education. *International Journal of Cyber Society and Education*, *9*(2), 45-64. doi:10.7903/ijcse.1475
- Wang, S., Noe, R. A., & Wang, Z. M. (2014). Motivating knowledge sharing in knowledge management systems: A quasi–field experiment. *Journal of Management*, 40, 978-1009. doi:10.1177/0149206311412192
- Wu, L. W., & Lin, J. R. (2013). Knowledge sharing and knowledge effectiveness: Learning orientation and co-production in the contingency model of tacit knowledge. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 28, 672-686. doi:10.1108/JBIM-04-2011-0050
- Wu, W. Y., Rivas, A. A. A., & Liao, Y. K. (2017). Influential factors for team reflexivity and new product development. *Project Management Journal*, *48*(3), 20-40.

  Retrieved from https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1& sid=83d8e457-6b21-42c8-b0e6-6482eeb12da6%40sessionmgr120
- Wu, P. H. J., & Uden, L. (2014). Knowledge creation process as communication— Connecting SECI and activity theory via cascading modes of communication.

- *Knowledge management in organizations*, 403-412. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-08618-7 39
- Xiao, Y., Zhang, X., & Ordóñez de Pablos, P. (2017). How does individuals' exchange orientation moderate the relationship between transformational leadership and knowledge sharing?. *Journal of Knowledge Management, 21*(6), 1622-1639. doi:10.1108/JKM-03-2017-0120
- Yang, L. R., Huang, C. F., & Hsu, T. J. (2014). Knowledge leadership to improve project and organizational performance. *International Journal of Project Management*, 32, 40-53. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.01.011
- Yeo, K., Wildman, J. L., & Choi, S. B. (2017). The effects of Confucian values on interpersonal trust, justice, and information sharing of Korean workers: A multilevel analysis. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 11, 1-11. doi:10.1017/prp.2017.15
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Zafar, N., Ishaq, S., Shoukat, S., & Rizwan, M. (2014). Determinants of employee motivation and its impact on knowledge transfer and job satisfaction.
   *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 4, 50-69.
   doi:10.5296/ijhrs.v4i3.5874

- Zhang, P., & Ng, F. F. (2012). Analysis of knowledge sharing behaviour in construction teams in Hong Kong. *Construction Management and Economics*, 30(7), 557-574. doi:10.1080/01446193.2012.669838
- Zhang, Z. (2018). Organizational culture and knowledge sharing: design of incentives and business processes. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(2), 384-399. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-08-2015-0119
- Zhu, J., & Manjarrez, D. (2017). How are companies engaging employees in the succession planning process, and what are the potential benefits or concerns related to increased transparency? Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/student/148
- Zia, S., & Shafiq, M. (2017). Innovation and knowledge management: A literature review and research framework. *Journal of Quality and Technology Management*, 13(1), 99-116. Retrieved from

https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/56156705/006-

V XIII I June2017.pdf?response-content-

disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DInnovation\_and\_Knowledge\_Manageme nt A Li.pdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-

Credential=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A%2F20200125%2Fus-east-

1%2Fs3%2Faws4\_request&X-Amz-Date=20200125T023808Z&X-Amz-

Expires=3600&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-

Signature=7fb09168d4881ca49236a4e18991b44efdb0e9f70a7009ea4822f01428f 3f851

# Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. Introduce the interview: Thank participant for assistance, reiterate purpose of the study, remind participant of length of interview (30-60 mins), and inform participant that questions asked will be focused on gaining insight on their perspectives of knowledge transfer strategies.
- 2. Present consent form (if not obtained prior), review with participant, obtain participant signature and provide participant a copy of consent form.
- 3. Remind participant interview will be recorded. Confirm participant's consent to record and start recording devices (Smart phone with voice recording app).
- 4. Introduce participant using assigned pseudonym (Participant number\_Date). Record participant pseudonym on note pad.
- 5. Begin interview with Question 1; follow with remaining questions and ask additional probing questions as required for clarification.
- 6. Record paraphrasing, observations about the setting, participant demeanor, and any additional information revealed during the interview.
- 7. End interview sequence and coordinate follow-on member checking with participant.
- 8. Thank participant for assistance and reinforce the importance of their contributions to the overall purpose of the study.
- 9. End protocol.

### Appendix B: Email Invitation to Potential Participants

#### Hello XXXX,

My name is Silvia Dimma, and I am a doctoral student at Walden University and also a current employee of the XXXXX. The research I am conducting is separate from any work responsibilities I hold as an employee. It is only related to my role as a student at Walden University. I am conducting research to explore knowledge transfer used by leaders to retain critical business information. I would like to gain your perspective on how you transfer knowledge to others. The participants include managers and executives of a credit union in Michigan, United States. The findings may contribute to social change by employees sharing knowledge enhancing the skills of other individuals that can be used at home and in society. More skilled workers, more engaged, and happier at both work and home will contribute positively to social change. More skilled employees from knowledge transfer makes individuals more marketable so that they can improve their living situation. My research involves an interview of less than 60 minutes. If you are willing, I would arrange for us to speak at a time and place convenient to you in which I will ask you several questions about your current experience, how is knowledge transferred between employees, what role do leaders have in knowledge transfer strategies and barriers have you encountered when implementing knowledge transfer strategies.

I will maintain your confidentiality in this research by using codes instead of your name on all research data collected. If you consent to voice recording for note taking purposes only, I will store the digital files using a password to protected the information. After the interview, I will ensure you have the opportunity to review the summary of our conversation for accuracy. All data reported in the research report will contain no names or any other identifying characteristics. If you are interested and willing to voluntarily participate in this research project, and/or if you have any questions, please simply contact me via reply email so I may complete this valuable research as soon as possible. I thank you in advance for your consideration.

Best regards, Silvia Dimma

E: silvia.dimma@waldenu.edu

P:517-243-2292

Walden Student #: A00461271

Walden University IRB Approval Number: 06-05-19-0461271

# Appendix C: Letter of Permission

Organization Name Contact Information Date

Dear Silvia Dimma,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Knowledge Transfer Strategies and Retaining Business Critical Information. As part of the study, I authorize you to call and/or email members of Organization Name to request participation of the study. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

I understand that our organization's identity will remain private and the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely, Authorization Official Contact Information

# Appendix D: Interview Questions

The interview questions asked of participants:

- 1. What knowledge transfer strategies do you employ to retain business critical information?
- 2. How is knowledge transferred between employees?
- 3. What role do leaders have in knowledge transfer strategies?
- 4. What barriers have you encountered when implementing knowledge transfer strategies?
- 5. How do employees respond to knowledge transfer strategies?
- 6. How do you evaluate or measure the knowledge transfer strategies for success?
- 7. What additional information you would be able to share on this topic?